LONG NON-CODING RNAS AND GATA4-FOG2 INTERACTION CARDIOMYOCYTE HYPERTROPHY

Sanna Artes University of Helsinki Faculty of Pharmacy Division of Pharmacology and Pharmacotherapy

April 2020



| | | - | _ |
|--|---|---|--|
| Tiedekunta/Osasto Fakultet/Sekt Faculty of Pharmacy | tion – Faculty | Osasto/Sektion Division of P | – Department harmacology and Pharmacotherapy |
| Tekijä/Författare – Author | | | |
| Sanna Artes | | | |
| Työn nimi / Arbetets titel – Title | | | |
| Long non-coding RNAs and | GATA4-FOG2 | 2 interaction can | rdiomyocyte hypertrophy |
| Pharmacology | | | |
| Työn laji/Arbetets art – Level Master's Thesis | Aika/Datum – N April 2020 | <i>l</i> onth and year | Sivumäärä/ Sidoantal – Number of pages 88 |
| Tiivistelmä/Referat – Abstract Left ventricular hypertrophy (Cardiomyocytes have a very r option to meet the requirement as cardiac failure and an incr and its current treatment reli alleviate symptoms but have v level signaling pathways and expression is a very complex project, two types of factors transcription factors GATA4 LncRNAs are RNA sequence but are involved in chromatin highly organ-selective, which selection of cardiomyocyte-set this project, three of them | (LVH) takes p marginal capating the of increased reased risk of r ies on antihypy very little effect genetic expre- k process, whi participating and FOG2. s of more than remodeling as makes them p elective lncRN were silenced | lace when cardi pility to prolifer workload. In the nyocardial infa ertensive drugs t on the built dat ssion in LVH is ch involves motion in this regulation 200 nucleotides s well as transcription (As, which shar- in a primary of | omyocytes respond to excessive stress by growing in size. ate, which is why hypertrophic growth is almost their only he long run, however, LVH leads to further problems, such rction. Hypertension is the most prevalent cause of LVH, . They decrease the workload of the heart and therefore mage and remodeling. Understanding the details of cellular s crucial for future drug development. Regulation of gene ore than just DNA being translated into a protein. In this on were in focus: long non-coding RNAs (lncRNA) and s that do not code for any protein final products themselves iptional and post-transcriptional gene regulation. They are a similar expression pattern in neonatal mouse hearts. In cardiomyocyte culture while simultaneously hormonally |
| Transcription factors are prote under certain circumstances developmental and functiona regulates the activity of GA ⁷ protein interaction between (project was to set up and opti | eins with partia s. GATA4 is Il genes in car TA4. Our grou GATA4 and N mize a composi- | ally similar activ an important diomyocytes. F p has recently VKX2-5, anothe und screening a | vities to lncRNAs; they regulate, which genes are expressed transcription factor in the heart as it targets various COG2 is a cofactor of GATA4; interaction between them developed a selection of compounds that affect protein- er important transcription factor. The second part of the assay for GATA4-FOG2 interaction. |
| The results showed no change could still reveal if they hav apoptosis. As for the GATA4 in a ratio of 10:1 resulted in the compounds may have ar conclusions. | e in hypertroph re effects that 4-FOG2 interac a signal suitab 1 effect on GA | ic response whe could not be se ction experimer le for compoun ATA4-FOG2 in | en the lncRNAs were silenced. Other experimental designs een with these protocols. The silencing had no effect on nts, transfecting COS-1 with GATA4 and FOG2 plasmids ad screening. Initial compound screening results indicated iteraction, but further studies are needed before drawing |
| Avainsanat – Nyckelord – Keywo left ventricular hypertrophy, o | rds cardiomyocyte | , long non-codi | ng RNA, GATA4, FOG2 |
| Säilytyspaikka – Förvaringställe – Division of Pharmacology ar | - Where deposite nd Pharmacoth | ed erapy | |
| Muita tietoja – Övriga uppgifter – Supervisors: Virpi Talman, P | Additional inform h.D. (Pharm), | nation Lotta Pohjolain | en, M.Sc. and Sini Kinnunen, M.Sc. |
| | | | |



HELSINGFORS UNIVERSITET UNIVERSITY OF HELSINKI



| Tiedekunta/Osasto Fakultet/Sek Farmasian tiedekunta | tion – Faculty | Osasto/Sektion Farmakologia | n– Department an ja lääkehoidon osasto |
|--|--|--|--|
| Tekijä/Författare – Author | | | |
| Sanna Artes | | | |
| — | | | |
| I yon nimi / Arbetets titel – Title | Pitkat ei-kooda | avat KNA:t ja C | GA1A4-FOG2-yhteisvaikutus kardiomyösyyttien |
| Oppiaine /Läroämne – Subject | | | |
| Farmakologia | • | | |
| Työn laji/Arbetets art – Level | Aika/Datum – N | Nonth and year | Sivumäärä/ Sidoantal – Number of pages |
| rio gradu -tutkienna | Tuntikuu 202 | .0 | 00 |
| Tiivistelmä/Referat – Abstract Sydämen vasemman kammi- eli kardiomyosyyttien koon k jakautumiskyky, ja siksi h vaatimuksiin. Pitkällä tähtäi kohonnutta sydäninfarktin nojautuukin pitkälti verenpai ne eivät korjaa syntyneitä v lääkekehityksessä LVH:ta va kuin pelkästään DNA:n tran tekijään: pitkät ei-koodaavat LncRNA:t ovat yli 200 nukle hienosäätävät muiden geenie tai kudoksessa, minkä vuo tunnistanut joukon kardiom samanlaista kaavaa syntymä ilmentymistä hiljennettiin hypertrofiselle stimulaatiolle vasteeseen kardiomyosyyteis | on hypertrofia (casvamisesta va ypertrofinen ka mellä LVH ku riskiä. Kohonn nelääkkeisiin. I raurioita. Soluta astaan. Geenien Islaatio proteiin RNAt (engl. lo cotidiä pitkiä RN en ilmentymistä ksi ne ovat ki yosyyttispesifis ä seuraavina p vastasyntynei 2. Tavoitteena o ssä. | (engl. left ventr stineena kohon asvu on käytär itenkin aiheutta ut verenpaine Niillä voidaan v ason signalointi ilmentymisen s iksi. Tässä erik ng non-coding VA-sekvenssejä ja toimintaa. T inostavia lääk siä lncRNA:ita, äivinä ja viikk den hiirten l li tutkia, onko r | ricular hypertrophy, LVH) on seurausta sydänlihassolujen, neeseen työtaakkaan. Kardiomyosyyteillä on häviävän pieni nnössä niiden ainoa tapa vastata suuremman työtaakan aa suurempia ongelmia, kuten sydämen vajaatoimintaa ja on yleisin LVH:n aiheuttaja, minkä vuoksi lääkehoito vähentää sydämen työtaakkaa ja siten lievittää oireita, mutta ijärjestelmien ymmärtäminen on olennaista tulevaisuuden säätely on monimutkainen prosessi, johon kuuluu muutakin koistyössä keskityttiin kahteen tähän ilmiöön vaikuttavaan RNA, lncRNA) sekä transkriptiotekijät GATA4 ja FOG2. a, jotka eivät itsessään koodaa mitään tiettyä proteiinia, vaan Ciettyä lncRNA:ta esiintyy pääasiassa vain tietyssä elimessä kekehityksen kannalta. Tutkimusryhmämme on aiemmin t, joiden ilmentyminen vastasyntyneillä hiirillä noudattaa coina. Tässä erikoistyössä niistä valikoitiin kolme, joiden kardiomyosyyteissä samanaikaisesti altistamalla niitä näillä lncRNA:illa vaikutusta apoptoosiin ja hypertrofiseen |
| Transkriptiotekijät ovat prot elimensä geenien ilmentymi lukeutuu monia kardiomyos kofaktori; niiden yhteisvail kymmeniä GATA4:n ja NK2 yhdisteitä. Erikoistyön toise GATA4:n ja FOG2:n vuorov | eiineja, joiden stä eri olosuhte syyttien kehityk kutus säätelee X2-5:n, toisen ssa osassa pyr vaikutukseen se | toiminnot ovat sissa. GATA4 o seen ja toimin GATA4:n akt sydämessä kesk ittiin asettamaa ulomiseksi. | osin samanlaisia kuin lncRNA:iden: ne säätelevät kohde- on tärkeä transkriptiotekijä sydämessä, sillä sen kohteisiin nan ylläpitämiseen liittyviä geenejä. FOG2 on GATA4:n tiivisuutta. Tutkimusryhmämme on aiemmin kehittänyt keisen transkriptiotekijän, väliseen interaktioon vaikuttavia an ja optimoimaan koeasetelma yhdisteiden vaikutuksien |
| Tuloksien perusteella hypertrofinen vaste ei muuttunut lncRNAita hiljennettäessä. On kuitenkin mahdollista, että kaikkia vaikutuksia ei voinut havaita käytetyillä menetelmillä, minkä vuoksi muiden koeasetelmien kokeileminen voisi tuottaa lisätietoa aiheesta. Tutkittavilla lncRNA:illa ei ollut vaikutusta apoptoosiin. GATA4-FOG2-interaktiokokeiden perusteella transfektoimalla COS-1 soluja suhteessa 10:1 GATA4- ja FOG2-plasmideilla saadaan yhdisteiden testaamiseen sopiva signaali. Alustavien tulosten perusteella yhdisteillä saattaa olla vaikutusta GATA4-FOG2-interaktioon, mutta ennen johtopäätösten tekemistä on tehtävä lisää tutkimuksia. | | | |
| vasemman kammion hypertr | ofia, sydänlihas | ssolu, pitkä ei-k | coodaava RNA, GATA4, FOG2 |
| Säilytyspaikka – Förvaringställe Farmakologian ja Lääkehoid | Where deposite on osasto | ed | |
| Muita tietoja – Övriga uppgifter – Ohjaajat: Virpi Talman, FaT | - Additional inform ; Lotta Pohjolai | nation inen, prov ja Sir | ni Kinnunen, FM |
| | | | |
| | | | |

ABBREVIATIONS

| ACE | angiotensin convertase enzyme | | | |
|-----------|---|--|--|--|
| ANP | A-type natriuretic peptide | | | |
| ATI | angiotensin I | | | |
| ATII | angiotensin II | | | |
| ATR | angiotensin (II) receptor | | | |
| BNP | B-type natriuretic peptide | | | |
| BSA | bovine serum albumin | | | |
| Bvht | braveheart | | | |
| Chaer | cardiac-hypertrophy-associated epigenetic regulator | | | |
| Chast | cardiac hypertrophy associated transcript | | | |
| CHRF | cardiac hypertrophy related factor | | | |
| CPR | cardiomyocyte proliferation regulator | | | |
| CSFM | complete serum free medium | | | |
| CVD | cardiovascular disease | | | |
| DAPI | 2-(4-amidinophenyl)-1H -indole-6-carboxamidine | | | |
| DCM | dilatative cardiomyopathy | | | |
| DMEM | Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium | | | |
| DMEM/F-12 | Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium/Ham's F12 nutrient mixture | | | |
| DMSO | dimethyl sulfoxide | | | |
| DOX | doxorubicin | | | |
| E | embryonic day | | | |

| ECG | electrocardiography |
|--------|--|
| Echo | echocardiography |
| ESC | embryonic stem cell |
| ET-1 | endothelin-1 |
| FBS | fetal bovine serum |
| IEG | immediate early response gene |
| iCLM | induced cardiac- like myocyte |
| iPSC | induced pluripotent stem cell |
| IncRNA | long non-coding RNA |
| IncRNP | IncRNA-associated ribonucleoprotein complex |
| LVH | left ventricular hypertrophy |
| MEF2C | myocyte specific enhancer factor 2C |
| mRNA | messenger RNA |
| MI | myocardial infarction |
| miRNA | micro RNA |
| МНС | myosin heavy chain |
| Mhrt | myosin heavy-chain-associated RNA transcript |
| MyBP-C | myosin-binding protein C |
| МҮН | myosin heavy chain |
| NaP | sodium pyruvate |
| ncRNA | non-coding RNA |
| nls | nuclear localization sequence |
| Р | postnatal day |

| PenStrep | penicillin-streptomycin |
|-----------------------|--|
| PBS | phosphate-buffered saline |
| PFA | paraformaldehyde |
| rBNP | rat BNP |
| RAS | renin-Angiotensin System |
| siRNA | small interfering RNA |
| Sirt1 | silent information regulator factor 2 related enzyme 1 |
| SNP | single nucleotide polymorphism |
| T ₃ | triiodothyronine |
| TAC | transverse aortic constriction |
| TAD | topologically associating domains |
| TE | tromethamine - ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid |
| tRNA | transfer RNA |
| UCR | ultra-conserved region |

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| 1 INTRODUCTION | 1 |
|---|----|
| 2 LITERATURE REVIEW | 2 |
| 2.1 Left ventricular hypertrophy | 2 |
| 2.1.1 Background and outcomes of LVH | 3 |
| 2.1.2 Classification of hypertrophy | 5 |
| 2.1.3 Cardiomyocyte regeneration | 8 |
| 2.1.4 Left ventricular hypertrophy on cellular level | 10 |
| 2.2 Treatment of left ventricular hypertrophy and cardiac failure | 12 |
| 2.2.1 Medical treatment | 12 |
| 2.2.2 Non-medical treatment and prevention | 15 |
| 2.2.3 Recent targets of interest in research | 17 |
| 2.3 Long non-coding RNA | 20 |
| 2.3.1 Long non-coding RNA in disease | 22 |
| 2.3.2 Cardiac long non-coding RNAs | 23 |
| 2.4 Transcription factors | 26 |
| 2.4.1 GATA family | |
| 2.4.2 Protein-protein interactions | 29 |
| 2.4.3 Friend of GATA 2 – FOG2 | 31 |
| 3 AIM OF THE STUDY | |
| 4 MATERIALS AND METHODS | 34 |
| 4.1 Reagents and other compounds | 34 |
| 4.2 Neonatal mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes | 35 |
| 4.3 Exposure to endothelin-1 and doxorubicin | 35 |
| 4.4 LNA GapmeR transfections | |

| 4.5 Immunofluorescence staining and high content screening |
|--|
| 4.5.1 Caspase-3/7 reporter |
| 4.5.2 Immunofluorescence staining |
| 4.5.3 High Content Screening |
| 4.6 GATA4-FOG2 compound screening optimization |
| 4.6.1 COS-1 cultures |
| 4.6.2 Plasmid production and purification |
| 4.6.3 Plasmid transfections |
| 4.6.4 Luciferase measurement |
| 4.7. Statistical analysis |
| 5 RESULTS |
| 5.1 Silencing long non-coding RNAs in neonatal mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes |
| |
| 5.1.1 Effects of silencing the long non-coding RNAs on hypertrophic response 42 |
| 5.1.2 Effects of silencing the long non-coding RNAs on cardiomyocyte apoptosis50 |
| 5.2 Setting up and optimizing a compound screening assay for GATA4-FOG2 |
| interaction |
| 6 DISCUSSION |
| 7 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS |
| REFERENCES |

1 INTRODUCTION

When the heart, like any organ or system, faces excessive stress, it has to adapt to the new circumstances. However, due to their lack of proliferation capability cardiomyocytes start growing in response to increased stress (Grossman et al. 1975). This phenomenon is called hypertrophy, and in pathological cases usually more accurately left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH) based on its location (Campbell et al. 1991). LVH is both the cause and result of other cardiovascular diseases. Hypertension is the most common background for it, and advanced LVH increases the risk for cardiac failure and myocardial infarction among others (Devereux et al. 1987; Levy et al. 1988).

Current treatment of LVH and cardiac failure is based on antihypertensive drugs (Hypertension, Käypä hoito recommendations 2014; Cardiac failure, Käypä hoito recommendations 2018). This is logical considering that hypertension is a significant risk factor for LVH. However, antihypertensive drugs do not repair the damage; they only alleviate symptoms and slow down the progression of the condition. A recent key question among researchers have been why the cardiomyocytes are only able to grow but not proliferate.

Understanding the cellular and molecular mechanisms behind both hypertrophy and proliferation are crucial for finding new, innovative treatment options. Long non-coding RNAs (lncRNAs) present an example of a new target of interest. All non-coding RNAS (ncRNAs) are RNA sequences that do not directly code for any protein but fine-tune transcriptional, post-transcriptional and epigenetic regulation of other genes (Kapranov et al. 2007). Because of their high organ-selectivity they present significant potential for medical research (Ramos et al. 2013). Transcription factors, which also adjust gene transcription and have very organ-selective functions, are another important target (Estella et al. 2012). They are special proteins that bind to DNA promoter regions, enabling them to enhance or inhibit the expression of certain genes.

In the first experimental part of this project, neonatal mouse cardiomyocytes were transfected with LNA GapmeRs that silence lncRNAs, which out group has previously

found to have similar expression patterns during the first postnatal days and weeks in neonatal mice. The cardiomyocytes were exposed to endothelin-1 (ET-1) to stimulate hypertrophy, and their response to the stress was studied. In the second part, a compound screening assay for protein-protein interaction between GATA4 and FOG2 transcription factors was set up and optimized. Then, the assay was tested with five compounds, which our group has earlier shown to alter the interaction of GATA4 with one of its other cofactors, NKX2-5, to see if they also affect GATA4-FOG2 interaction.

2 LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Left ventricular hypertrophy

The human heart is normally about the size of a fist. In cardiac hypertrophy the walls of the ventricles have thickened, which with the exception of certain genetic diseases signals that the heart is trying to function with excessive hemodynamic stress, with the exception of certain genetic diseases such as hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (Grossman et al. 1975). The systemic circulation requires a continuous supply of blood, but the heart falls behind from the demands. However, the heart does not have many ways to compensate. Cardiomyocytes, which are the contracting unique muscle cells in the heart, have a nearly nonexistent regeneration capability, but they can grow in size. In practice, hypertrophy is almost synonymic to left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH), because the highest number of cardiomyocytes is localized in the walls of the left ventricle (Campbell et al. 1991). This is logical considering that the left ventricle is responsible for the systemic circulation (Guyton and Hall 2006). Right ventricular hypertrophy exists, too, but it is usually a cause of lung-related conditions, such as pulmonary hypertension (Parikka 2016). The idea of this compensatory mechanism is understandable; thicker ventricular walls can push a bigger volume of blood to the aorta. This strategy, however, quickly reaches its limits. Simultaneously, fibrosis and death of millions of cardiomyocytes take place, and hypertrophy cannot compensate for all of that (Kajstura et al. 1996).

Diagnostics rely on electrocardiography (ECG) and clinical examination of the patient (Hypertension, Käypä hoito recommendations 2014). ECG measures the electric

impulses in the heart, therefore making it possible to draw a curve of the contractions and detect abnormalities. Echocardiography (Echo), which uses ultrasound to gain information of the structure of the heart, is an option in unclear or otherwise difficult cases (Devereux et al. 1986). The results from Echo are more reliable than the ones obtained from ECG but also the usage is much more expensive. The reliability of ECG can be increased by using certain validated criteria, known as Cornell and Sokolow criteria (Okin et al. 2000). Medical research usually opts for Echo because of the higher number of quantities that can be measured: thickness and mass of the walls and volume of the ventricles among others (de Simone et al. 2008). Among hypertensive patients ECG finds approximately 5 – 10% to have LVH (Kaplan 1998). The Framingham Heart study, which covered nearly 5 000 patients, published even smaller numbers, 3%, while Echo detected 16 - 19% LVH cases (Kannel et al. 1969; Levy et al. 1988). Eventually, no matter how precise the method being used to diagnose the patient, the line between a normal and enlarged mass of the heart is not sharp. The results must be individually set in proportion to height, weight and gender among other factors before drawing conclusions.

2.1.1 Background and outcomes of LVH

Arterial hypertension is the most common condition in the background of LVH, increasing the risk up to 5-fold (Devereux et al. 1987; Kumpusalo et al. 2001). Hypertension, however, is treatable, whereas the effects of LVH cannot be entirely cured. Additionally, not only does hypertension risk developing LVH, as also the other way around LVH can cause hypertrophy. Ageing, gender, myocardial infarction (MI), obesity and valvular heart diseases increase the risk, too (Levy et al. 1988; Jula and Karanko 1994; de Simone et al. 1994; Benjamin and Levy 1999). de Simone et al. (1994) found that the significances of these factors may vary between genders, as men were more likely to develop LVH with hypertension and women with excess weight. A follow-up study by Hubert et al. (1983) suggested obesity is a significant risk for LVH and other cardiovascular diseases (CVD) even with no other common risk factors. In addition to the previous common risk factors, additional examples such as smoking, diabetes, insulin

resistance, alcohol consumption, urine sodium levels and lack of physical activity have been linked with LVH (Benjamin and Levy 1999).

Both systolic and diastolic functionality can be significantly reduced because of LVH. This means that the heart is unable to perform its most fundamental task: pumping blood. When this inability develops further it is called cardiac failure; a condition that affects about one to two percent of the population worldwide (Mosterd and Hoes 2007). Shortness of breath and fatigue especially during physical activity are the most common symptoms and are caused by blood accumulating in pulmonary circulation as the heart does not have the power to push the incoming blood forward (Lommi 2018). Liquid starts to accumulate in the body and particularly legs get easily swollen. Patients with difficult cases of cardiac failure often find their symptoms worse when lying down because it allows blood in the veins of the legs re-enter bloodstream. In cardiac failure the heart may not be able to keep up with the re-entering blood, which again starts to accumulate in the pulmonary circulation. The swelling can also be seen on the scale and patients can experience rapid weight gain.

Cardiac failure is a common cause of death: in 2013 it was reported to be at least one factor in every 9th case of death in the United States (Mozaffarian et al. 2016). Additionally to its lethality, cardiac failure decreases the quality of life of the patients, leads to several hospital admissions and therefore consumes lots of money. In 2012 the treatment costs for cardiac failure were 700 million dollars in the United States only and are expected to rise in the future. Because of the strong correlation, a heart with LVH is considered an intermediate form between a healthy heart and cardiac failure. In addition to cardiac failure, LVH is a direct risk for MI, arrhythmias and sudden cardiac deaths (Levy et al. 1990).

In the case of MI, millions of cardiomyocytes are lost and the damage starts building immediately. This type of remodeling differentiates from hypertension-induced LVH. Cardiac healing following MI is a complex system, which begins with a triggered inflammatory phase, during which the necrotic myocardium is replaced with granulation tissue (Fraccarollo et al. 2012). Second, fibrogenesis results in scar tissue formation. The

scar is not able to contract like cardiomyocytes but it is a crucial part in MI recovery, as it prevents the left ventricle from rupturing (Brown et al. 2005; Dobaczewski et al. 2010). In contrast, fibrosis in areas remote from the infarct site results in significant increase in myocardial stiffness (Brown et al. 2005). Hypertrophy and many other structural changes take place during the following weeks and months. The phases of cardiac remodeling in case of MI is presented in Figure 1.



Figure 1: Phases of cardiac remodeling following a myocardial infarction (Fraccarollo et al. 2012).

2.1.2 Classification of hypertrophy

Hypertrophy is not necessarily bad - in fact, it is essential for normal growth, adaptation and maintenance. There are two ways to categorize hypertrophy: physiological and pathological hypertrophy, and concentric and eccentric hypertrophy (Weeks and McMullen 2011; van Berlo et al. 2013b) (Fig 2). Physiological hypertrophy is a healthy, normal phenomenon. A classic cause for this includes substantial physical activity, for example (Boström et al. 2010; Weeks and McMullen 2011). The volume of ventricles and the thickness of cardiomyocytes grow proportionally, which increases pumping efficacy and reduces the pressure falling upon the walls. This kind of hypertrophy is benign and allows the heart to maintain its functionality – or even increase it as the volume of the ventricle is increased in relation to the thickness of the wall (Fig 2). Neonates and pregnant females experience the same phenomenon as their hearts face increased pressure and start to grow (Weeks and McMullen 2011).



Figure 2: Different types of cardiac hypertrophy. In physiologic hypertrophy cardiomyocytes grow proportionally in length and width so that the ventricular volume is increased together with the thickness of the wall. In concentric remodeling cardiomyocytes grow significantly more in width compared with length. This results in thickening of the walls and a loss of chamber volume. In eccentric growth cardiomyocytes grow longer but not wider, leading to excessive chamber enlargement with thinner walls. (van Berlo et al. 2013b).

Chronic overload and stress lead to pathological changes (Grossman et al. 1975). There is a significant difference, though: the cardiomyocytes do not grow proportionally. If pathological hypertrophy is concentric, the volume of the left ventricle shrinks the thicker the walls grow, because the cardiomyocytes are mostly stretched across their diameter but not in length (Pearson et al. 1991) (Fig 2). Concentric pathological hypertrophy is usually a consequence of long-term, gradual increase in blood pressure, but it can also be seen in cases of aortic stenosis (Messerli et al. 1987; Frohlich et al. 1992). Simultaneous fibrosis and scar formation make the structure of the walls very stiff (Grossman et al. 1975). If the constant stress continues long enough, the compensatory mechanisms of the heart slowly start scraping its own functionality.

Another form of pathological growth is eccentric pathological hypertrophy. In this case, the cardiomyocytes grow more in length than across their diameter (Grossman et al. 1975; Ganau et al. 1992). The volume of the left ventricle is increased but the walls become thin in relation to the diameter of the ventricle (Fig 2). One fourth of LVH cases are eccentric hypertrophy (Ganau et al. 1992). This form of cardiomyocyte growth is also known as dilatative cardiomyopathy (DCM), and considering that cardiac remodeling it does not belong under the term of hypertrophy, as the walls do not actually thicken. Examples of conditions often linked with DCM include mitral and aortic valve leakage conditions, MI and cardiac failure (Grossman et al. 1975; Messerli and Aepfelbacher 1995). MI results in death of millions of cardiomyocytes and the heart must find a way to compensate the decreased workforce. Valvular diseases allow blood to flow backwards in the heart, which leads to pathological remodeling to compensate the loss in cardiac output. Despite the functional logic behind increasing the ventricular volume in such cases, the phenomenon significantly upsurges the end-diastolic volume. As the tension upon ventricular walls is higher in the case of eccentric LVH, scientists expected it to have mortality rates as well. However, it was shown to be the exact other way around, indicating that the thickening is even more damaging for the myocardium than ventricular dilation (Koren et al. 1991; Ghali et al. 1998; Akinboboye et al. 2004)

2.1.3 Cardiomyocyte regeneration

Cardiomyocytes make approximately one third of the heart, the contracting tissue myocardium (Nag 1980; Banerjee et al. 2007; Pinto et al. 2016). However, considering the volume of the heart, they occupy up to 90% (Anversa et al. 1980, Tang et al. 2009; Pinto et al. 2016). Other predominant cell types include fibroblasts, endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells. Cardiomyocytes can be further classified into four subtypes (Guyton and Hall 2006). One class of contracting cardiomyocytes is located in the ventricles while another one is in the atriums. The third subtype is pacemaker cells that give rise to electric stimuli and the fourth group conducts it forward.

Neonatal mammals are able to recover from cardiac damage as the cardiomyocytes at the site of injury proliferate and give rise to substitutive cells (Porrello et al. 2011). Their hearts respond in a different manner: hyperplasic growth. Neonatal mice have been proven to be capable of replenishing lost cardiomyocytes in case of an injury (Soonpaa et al. 1996; Porrello et al. 2011). A few years ago, Haubner et al. (2016) were the first to report that a newborn human had fully both structurally and functionally recovered from a major ischemic injury, providing stronger evidence of the regeneration capability than ever before. Because of this special characteristic of neonatal cardiomyocytes, neonatal rodents have a fundamental role in cardiac regeneration research. They are easy to modify genetically and outcomes can be seen relatively quickly (Zaruba and Field 2011). Another common model for cardiac regeneration is the zebrafish, which maintains its capability of cardiac regeneration throughout its lifespan (Poss et al. 2002).

Soon after birth, however, mammal cardiomyocytes lose the ability to proliferate. Only 0.5 - 2% of adult murine and human cardiomyocytes regenerate every year, and it has been estimated that a 75-year-old still has 50% the exact same cardiomyocytes he had when he was born (Parmacek and Epstein 2009; Bergmann et al. 2015). However, not all researchers entirely agree on these renewal rate numbers (Nadal-Ginard et al. 2003; Bergmann and Jovinge 2014). Reliably labeling proliferating cardiomyocytes to differentiate them from non-proliferating ones has been challenging, which plays a part in the varying results (Bergmann et al. 2009; Laflamme and Murry 2011).

Cardiomyocytes carry one or two nuclei, making the task to separate new cardiomyocytes from old ones even more challenging. Soonpaa et al. (1996) found out postnatal cardiomyocytes tend to replicate their DNA and nuclei, but not the cytosol. The cells become binuclear, after which going through a full mitotic cycle is even more unlikely (Li et al. 1996) (Fig 3).



Figure 3: The cell cycle. During phases G1 and G2 the cell is focusing on maintaining homeostasis and carrying out its basic tasks, including cell respiration and protein synthesis, for example. DNA is duplicated in phase S. Cell division takes place in the mitotic M phase. If needed, the cell can also go to a passive resting phase G0, which significantly decreases its energy requirement.

In mice, the loss of regeneration capacity takes place quickly after birth; already at oneweek-old it is practically nonexistent (Li et al. 1996; Porrello et al. 2011). Mice younger than that are able to recover from an artificial injury at myocardium nearly perfectly because of their cardiomyocytes' proliferation capacity (Soonpaa et al. 1996). Older mice without this capability undergo scar formation and get different stages of cardiac failure. This phenomenon has been studied by surgically removing tissue from the tip of myocardium (Porrello et al. 2011; Konfino et al. 2015) or blocking circulation from the coronary artery (Porrello et al. 2011; Haubner et al. 2012; Konfino et al. 2015). Rough estimations of the renewal time window in humans have been made, despite not everyone completely agrees on whether the rodent cardiomyocyte renewal window exists in large animals or in humans in the first place (e.g. Porrello et al. 2011; Mollova et al. 2013, Lázár et al. 2017).

2.1.4 Left ventricular hypertrophy on cellular level

Inside a cardiomyocyte, there are elongated myofibrils organized side by side. The myofibrils are made of recurring sarcomeres, which for their part consist of thin actinand thick myosin filaments. The earliest publications on the sarcomere structure and function track decades back in time and are still relevant (Huxley 1957). The sarcomere filaments move in an interlocked pattern, and this movement acts as a bow in the contractions (Sequeira et al. 2014). The sarcomeres are outlined by α actinin sheets that attach actin filaments to so called Z-discs. Actin filaments are thin, and they dominate the perimeters of a sarcomere unit. This is called the I-band. The thicker myosin filaments for there are concentrated in the middle of the sarcomere – the A-band. Myosin-binding protein C (MyBP-C) holds the myosin filaments in place. Additionally, six titin proteins cross the sarcomere along the surface of the thick filament and further to the Z-disc, where they interact with α -actinin. The sarcomere structure is presented in Figure 4. During hypertrophy the sarcomere structures lose their organized pattern, and cardiomyocytes change their genetic expression and increase protein synthesis.



Figure 4: Structure of a sarcomere unit. Z-discs determine the outliers of the sarcomere and consist of α -actinin. Thin actin filaments are attached to the Z-discs and they form the I-bands of the unit. In the middle, thick myosin filaments form the inner A-band. In addition to actin and myosin, the sarcomere structure includes myosin-binding protein C (MyBP-C) that holds the myosin filaments together, and six titin proteins crossing through the entire structure along the myosin filaments (Hwang and Sykes 2015).

Immediate early response genes (IEG) are upregulated within 30 minutes from the beginning of hypertrophic stress (Izumo et al. 1988; Iwaki et al. 1990; Chien et al. 1991). Particularly A- and B-type natriuretic peptides (ANP, BNP) (Nppa, Nppb), β-myosin heavy chain $(\beta$ -MHC)(*Myh7*) and α -actinin (*Acta1*) are activated simultaneously with IEGs (Schwartz et al. 1986; Izumo et al. 1987; Izumo et al. 1988; Chien et al. 1991). Examples of IEGs include c-fos and c-myc protooncogenes as well as a major heat shock protein gene (hsp70). What is interesting is that BNP, β -MHC and α actinin are at their highest activity during embryogenesis, after which their expression decreases in relation to other cardiac genes (Hunter and Chien 1999; van Berlo et al. 2013b). BNP is prevalent in the ventricular walls throughout lifespan, but after birth ANP is usually expressed mostly in the atriums. However, during hypertrophic stimulus, both ANP and BNP are significantly increased in the ventricular walls. The reason why these factors are reactivated is relatively unclear to this day but likely the phenomenon has to do with cardiac protection, since ANP and BNP have been shown to carry anti-hypertrophic effects (e.g. Rosenkranz et al. 2003a, Rosenkranz et al. 2003a). According to some research groups, the induction of fetal genes itself could be harmful and a possible drug target (O'Donoghue and Braunwald 2010).

After IEGs have emerged, the changes take place in other sarcomere protein genes, too. This leads to growth and reorganization of the sarcomere structures (Lee et al. 1988; Long et al. 1989; Pratt and Dzau 2018). It is a natural phenomenon in both physiological and pathological hypertrophy and essential for increasing the contraction force. However, the mechanism of sarcomere growth is different between concentric and eccentric (Hunter and Chien 1999). In concentric pathological hypertrophy proteins are added side by side to the sarcomeres, causing the cell to widen out. In eccentric pathological hypertrophy the proteins are stacked on top of one another, which is why the cells are stretched longer. In addition, contractibility is negatively impacted as hypertrophic stress affects the expression of genes regulating intracellular calcium ions (Kent et al. 1993; Chung et al. 2011; Luo and Anderson 2013; Coppini et al. 2018).

2.2 Treatment of left ventricular hypertrophy and cardiac failure

Currently, there is no curing treatment available for cardiac failure despite about one to two percent of the population worldwide suffers from it (Mosterd and Hoes 2007). Medication aims at lowering the workload of the heart via renin angiotensin system, adrenergic β receptors or diuresis, for example (Cardiac failure, Käypä hoito recommendations 2018). Starting the right combination of medicine at the right time will significantly increase the patient's life expectancy. However, in severe cases and after the syndrome has continued and developed for many years, there is a shortage of options. The treatment of LVH is crucial for the prevention of complications from pathological remodeling (Ruilope and Schmieder 2008).

2.2.1 Medical treatment

Due to its strong association with hypertension, the treatment of LVH is based on blood pressure medication (Hypertension, Käypä hoito recommendations 2014). Patients benefit from these drugs even if they did not have an abnormally high blood pressure to begin with. The most common blood pressure medication classes include adrenergic β receptor blockers (β blockers), selective for type β_1 or both β_1 and β_2 , Ca²⁺ receptor blockers, angiotensin convertase enzyme (ACE) blockers, angiotensin II receptor (ATR) blockers and diuretics. The adrenergic system increases heart rate via β_1 receptors, among other effects, which increases the workload of the heart. Preventing stimulus via this track mediates the efficacy of β blockers. Calcium ion influx intermediates Ca²⁺ electric current inside cardiomyocytes and vascular smooth muscle cells, which affects heart rate and the diameter of blood vessels. Diuretics regulate different ion efflux and influx transporters so that more fluid is excreted from the kidneys. A smaller blood volume puts less load on the heart and decreases blood pressure and also helps cardiac failure patients with swelling.

Angiotensin I (ATI) is formed from renin, which is excreted from the kidneys. Angiotensinogen enzyme from the liver converts renin into ATI. ATI is then further converted into angiotensin II (ATII) by ACE. ATII is highly vasoconstrictive when binding to ATRs. A decrease in the diameter of blood vessels naturally decreases the volume in which all blood is supposed to fit, which then upsurges blood pressure. Additionally, ATII also increases aldosterone secretion from adrenal glands. Aldosterone enhances Na⁺, Cl⁻ and H₂O reabsorption and K⁺ secretion, which results in a higher blood volume and further increases blood pressure. ATII also raises sympathetic activity, which stimulates β receptors, and indirectly increases blood volume via the kidneys. This system is known as the renin-angiotensin system (RAS) (Fig 5) and it mediates the efficacy of ACE and ATR blockers. RAS has been shown to be highly activated in hypertrophy (Baker et al. 1992; Sadoshima et al. 1993). Research has revealed that ACE and ATR blockers prevent hypertrophy, supposedly because cardiomyocytes release ATII upon stretching, and this ATII activates internal RAS signaling in the heart (Pfeffer et al. 1982; Baker et al. 1990; Baker et al. 1992; Sadoshima et al. 1993). ATII has also been found to induce hypertrophy independently. Transgenic mice that overexpress angiotensinogen only in the heart developed both left and right ventricular hypertrophy over the course of their development and full-grown mice had approximately 20% larger ventricular walls than wild-type controls (Mazzolai et al. 1998; Mazzolai et al. 2000) These findings further emphasize the role of RAS affecting drugs in LVH.



Figure 5: The renin-angiotensin system (RAS). ACE = angiotensin convertase enzyme, Na^+ = sodium ion, K^+ = potassium ion, Cl^- = chloride ion.

Gottdiener et al. (1997) conducted a double-blinded randomized trial with six common antihypertensives administered to 1 105 male patients who all had particularly high diastolic pressure levels. According to their findings, captopril, hydrochloride thiazide and atenolol significantly reduced the mass of the left ventricular wall. Diltiazem, clonidine and prazosin were equally effective in hypertension but had no effect on the ventricular walls. At the same time, Liebson et al. (1995) did a similar setting with five antihypertensive drugs (n = 844) and found that in the long run drug treatment did not have a better positive impact on the ventricular walls than non-medical treatment, such as lifestyle changes. To compare different classes of medication, Schmieder et al. (1998) carried out meta-analysis covering 1 175 patients on placebo (n = 165), diuretics (n = 304), β blockers (n = 367), calcium channel blockers (n = 441) and ACE blockers (n = 438). The results showed the overall duration of medication is important for the obtained results and decrease in systolic pressure significantly reduced the mass of ventricular walls. ACE and calcium channel blockers ranked higher than β blockers and diuretics although they all reduced blood pressure equally in both groups.

The Losartan Intervention For Endpoint reduction (LIFE) studies began in the 1990's as it became more evident that β blockers and diuretics did not benefit patients with hypertension considering morbidity (Dahlöf et al. 1997). Although they reduced blood pressure, patient deaths did not decrease. Overall, the LIFE project covered several clinical studies and only a couple of examples are presented here. Devereux et al. (2004) examined 960 patients having either losartan (n = 457) or atenolol (n = 459) and found losartan reducing the mass in the left ventricular walls more than atenolol. In addition, atenolol increased the diameter of the left ventricle compared to losartan. Another publication from the LIFE study by Dahlöf et al. (2002) got similar results from an even larger group of patients. They double-blinded 9193 participants with hypertension and LVH to receive either losartan (n = 4605) or atenolol (n = 4588) and found that losartan reduced cardiac morbidity compared to atenolol even if blood pressure was reduced equally.

It is worth acknowledging that the classic antihypertensive drugs were developed a couple of decades ago, and their efficacy was studied back then as can be seen in the years of

these publications. However, they maintain their relevancy in treatment recommendations to this day (Hypertension, Käypä hoito recommendations 2014). More recent studies have, instead, examined the benefits of combining two or more antihypertensive drugs. Like the starting point of the LIFE project stated, final health outcomes must be taken into account besides the direct effects on the ventricular walls. Research shows that combining an angiotensin receptor (ATR) blocker, such as losartan, with a thiazide diuretic appears to reduce the risk of stoke more than a β blocker with a thiazide diuretic (Dahlöf et al. 2005; Ruilope and Schmieder 2008). The inferiority of β blockers among LVH patients has also been pointed out in monotherapy, for which ACE, ATR and Ca²⁺ blockers are more beneficial choices (Fagard et al. 2009). For cardiac failure patients diuretics are an essential drug to remove excessive body fluids that accumulate in the lower limbs and lungs as a result from insufficient heart function (Cardiac failure, Käypä hoito recommendations 2018). Depending on the severity of their illness they may also need medication for cardiac arrhythmias, such as fairly usual atrial fibrillation. The European guidelines for LVH medical treatment were summarized from by Mancia et al. (2013) who gathered over 700 studies about hypertension medication under a variability of other conditions that may have an impact on the outcome, such as LHV. Like the examples mentioned here, their final outcome was that the primary medication should be an ACE, ATII or Ca²⁺ blocker, a diuretic or an aldosterone antagonist.

2.2.2 Non-medical treatment and prevention

The first steps that should be taken to decrease the workload of the heart lie within lifestyle choices. Excessive sodium intake, substantial alcohol consumption, unhealthy eating with little vegetables and plenty of saturated fats and lack of physical activity are well established risk factors of hypertension (Marmot et al. 1994; Benjamin and Levy 1999; Appel et al. 1997; Sacks et al. 2001). The exact same factors are also known to enhance LVH of themselves, but as LVH and hypertension are strongly linked together, aiming at a lower blood pressure should be one of the main focuses (Devereux et al. 1987; Levy et al. 1988; Hypertension, Käypä hoito recommendations 2014). Focusing solely on LVH, medical and non-medical treatment are of same efficacy (Liebson et al. 1995).

The average salt intake in Finland is approximately ten-fold to the recommendations (Paturi et al. 2008; Puska et al. 2009; Helldán et al. 2013). Excessive sodium significantly increases the risk of cardiovascular end points and deaths (Alderman et al. 1998; He et al. 1999; Tuomilehto et al. 2001; Strazzullo et al. 2009). In a study by He et al. (2004) cutting salt intake down by six grams a day significantly reduced blood pressure in just four weeks. Reducing salt also improves the efficacy of many antihypertensive drugs, such as ACE, ATR and β blockers and diuretics (Parijs et al. 1973; Erwteman et al. 1984; MacGregor et al. 1987; Singer et al. 1995; Houlihan et al. 2002). Not only is the indirect effect via blood pressure important in the prognosis, reducing salt intake can also directly decrease LVH. Jula and Karanko (1994) conducted a study in which patients (n = 76)were given a salt-restricted diet. Treatment group was also given advice by a dietician while control group did not. After 12 months the treatment group dropped an average of 5.4% of their left ventricle mass, but no change was detected in the control group. The decreased mass could not be explained with other factors, such as weight loss, which led the researchers to believe it was the sodium restriction that caused the difference between the groups.

Those who exercise substantially have on average lower blood pressure than those with very little physical activity (Huai et al. 2013). According to the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (2008) 150 minutes of moderately straining endurance training is the most recommendable form of exercise for hypertension patients. It has been shown to reduce blood pressure approximately 8/5 mmHg (Cornelissen and Smart 2013). Among overweight patients losing weight only 4% on a sparse energy diet reduces blood pressure roughly 6/3 mmHg and decreases the need of medical treatment (Neter et al. 2003; Horvath et al. 2008). Combination of weight loss and reduced salt consumption appears to diminish LVH (MacMahon et al. 1986). Similar results can be obtained by increasing exercise, which helps lose weight. However, it is important to emphasize the importance of maintaining the weight loss results and the reduced sodium levels (Fagerberg et al. 1984; Bao et al. 1998). The changes one makes in their lifestyle must be sustainable in order to benefit from them in the long run.

2.2.3 Recent targets of interest in research

Despite antihypertensive drugs benefiting patients with LVH even if they were not hypertensive, the demand for innovative treatments is high. Particularly in the case of MI it would be crucial to prevent the pathological remodeling in an early phase (Fig 1). Researchers are breaching out to find treatments that repair and prevent cardiac remodeling instead of only alleviating symptoms.

Cardiac regeneration has been a hot topic in the field of LVH and cardiac failure treatment for the past decades. Researchers have spent considerable effort and resources to find a way to overcome the immediate hypertrophic response to injury. Stem cells are one of the most studied fields in several diseases and conditions, and the heart is no exception. Animal models and humans have confirmed that cellular replacement, which means stem cells or other types of cells, are injected directly to the site of injury, has modest yet potential effects in cardiac repair (e.g. Fisher et al. 2016; Khan et al. 2016; Park et al. 2019; Fan et al. 2020). However, before drawing any conclusions, it was also shown that the implanted cells seldom retain in the heart and the mechanistic base of cardiac improvement after cell therapy remains undecided. The transient benefit obtained from stem cell implantation is likely due to paracrine signaling between neighboring cells (Mercola et al. 2011).

Another approach has been turning other cardiac cells, such as fibroblasts, into cardiomyocytes by taking advantage of developmental gene regulatory networks (Buckingham et al. 2005; Olson 2006; Srivastava 2006). In theory, such reprogrammed cells can occupy the site of injury before hypertrophy and fibrosis, therefore enhancing cardiac function after MI (Ieda et al. 2010; Qian et al. 2012; Song et al. 2012). Fibroblasts can be reprogrammed into induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), which exhibit the properties of embryonic stem cells (ESCs) after forced expression of pluripotency genes OCT4, SOX2, Krüppel-like factor 4 and MYC – together also known as OSKM factors (Takahashi et al. 2006; Takahashi et al. 2007). Generating iPSC intermediates from patient fibroblasts offers a possibility for patient-specific disease models and better choices of treatment (Yoshida and Yamanaka 2011; Nakamura et al. 2013). Efe et al.

(2011) successfully generated contracting patches of cardiomyocytes from mouse embryonic fibroblasts and adult mouse fibroblasts when using specific culture conditions without the iPSc intermediate stage. However, there are major issues to be solved. First, iPSCs are highly teratogenic, meaning they pose a risk for embryos if the receiver is pregnant. Second, the pluripotency genes are carcinogenic. Additional challenges include low induction rate to iPSCs, inadequacy of iPSCs to further differentiate into cardiomyocytes and failure of exogenous cells to gain a foothold at the site of injury, for example (Yoshida and Yamanaka 2011; Bellin et al. 2012).

Attempts to bypass these hardships have been made, such as implementing the reprogramming directly within the heart without the stem cell intermediate stage. Recently, a deeper understanding of transcription factors and their interactions, which specify cardiac lineage and the differentiation of cardiomyocytes during embryogenesis, has been gained. The same transcription factors carry potential to activate cardiac gene expression in fibroblasts in vitro. Ieda et al. (2010) got initial results that combining three transcription factors - GATA4, myocyte specific enhancer factor 2C (MEF2C) and TBX5 (collectively called GMT factors) - could reprogram cardiac and dermal fibroblasts into induced cardiac-like myocytes (iCLMs) in mice, with a yield of $\sim 5-7\%$. A tiny fraction of these iCLMs were able to contract spontaneously after 4-5 weeks. Nevertheless, the efficacy obtained by Ieda et al. (2010) varies between research groups and some, such as Chen et al. (2012) report the method not successful at all. The variables causing the inconsistency are most likely the need for a specific stoichiometry of reprogramming factors to activate the cardiac gene programme, the heterogeneity of fibroblasts between different studies and the variances in the cell culture conditions used among others. Song et al. (2012) managed to increase the yield to \sim 20% by adding in a fourth transcription factor, HAND2, and the newly generated iCLMs apparently rise from direct conversion of fibroblasts without an intermediate stem cell state. Additional strategies to generate cardiomyocytes include muscle-specific micro RNAs (miRNAs) and combining this with transcription factor introduction (Efe et al. 2011; Jayawardena et al. 2012). The exact mechanism accountable for direct cardiac reprogramming remains partially unknown. Various combinations of different transcription factors have been proven to directly activate genes encoding cardiac proteins and regulate their own expression patterns (Ieda et al. 2010; Qian et al. 2012; Song et al. 2012). Seemingly, these factors can switch on endogenous cardiac genes that gradually create a stable cardiac phenotype when they reach their threshold expression levels.

Surprisingly, applying these strategies *in vivo* was a greater success than anticipated after the iCLM yields in *in vitro* studies. Qian et al. (2012) and Song et al. (2012) both delivered GMT factors by retroviral vectors to mouse hearts after left anterior descending ligation and saw major improvement in cardiac function which was still clear a year after surgery. When these iCLMs were examined by isolating and culturing them *in vitro* the sarcomere structures, contractility and cardiomyocyte-like gene expression were similar to mature cardiomyocytes. Encouraging results were also obtained by Jayawardena et al. (2012) who transfected miRNAs with lentivirus vector. Presumably the native surroundings in the living heart improved the results significantly from artificial in vitro conditions. These findings were not, however, an operational treatment for humans. Human cells are much harder to reprogramme, likely due to their stable epigenetic modifications that take place over time. Nam et al. (2013) reported initial progress towards reprogramming human fibroblasts into cardiomyocytes in vitro. The foremost problem is that these cells do not proliferate, which significantly reduces their potential in therapeutic use where millions of dead cardiomyocytes should be replenished. An additional danger lies in the possible alterations in cardiac architecture, which could quickly become deadly.

Instead of making new cardiomyocytes from other cells, researchers have also studied ways to make cardiomyocytes proliferate again. Positive cell cycle regulators that have been identified include cyclins, cyclin-dependent kinases and proto-oncoproteins, and they are expressed at considerably higher levels in the embryonic heart and downregulated in the adult heart (Pasumarthi and Field 2002; Ahuja et al. 2007). Forcing overexpression of some of these factors, such as cyclin A2, cyclin D2, neuregulin 1 and SV40 large T antigen have been shown to be linked with dedifferentiation and proliferation of mature cardiomyocytes (Chaudhry et al. 2004; Engel et al. 2005; Engel et al. 2006 Kühn et al. 2007; Bersell et al. 2009). However, all experiments have resulted in relatively low yields but a chance for future therapeutics remains.

A third direction is utilizing the same transcription factors as in cell reprogramming, but rather aiming at preventing hypertrophic response. Synergy between transcription factors determines lots of cellular processes, such as which genes are expressed and whether the cell should opt for apoptosis, for instance (Lyons et al. 1995; Molkentin et al. 1997; Horb and Thomsen 1999). Some of these protein-protein interactions are mediators for hypertrophic gene expression. Our research group has focused on synthetizing numerous small molecules that interfere with the interaction between GATA4 and NKX2-5 and was in fact the first one to reportedly succeed (Välimäki et al. 2017). These two factors have been a particular target of interest and other research groups have also acknowledged their potential in future treatments (Ieda et al. 2010; Song et al. 2012; Kang et al. 2015). However, this topic will be covered more profoundly further in this literary survey.

2.3 Long non-coding RNA

During the past couple of decades an increasing number of studies have found long noncoding RNAs (lncRNAs) an important factor in genetic regulation. They belong to a larger group of non-coding RNAs (ncRNAs). All ncRNAs are all indirect regulators of gene transcription despite not coding for any proteins themselves and their duties include transcriptional, post-transcriptional and epigenetic modifications in gene expression among others (Kapranov et al. 2007). They are highly organ-selective and are likely to contribute to both developmental and functional cell events and are therefore an interesting drug target.

The discovery of ncRNAs helped provoke a change in the general understanding of genetics towards the acknowledgement that a single sequence can be read in multiple ways: it can be transcribed into sense, antisense, coding and non-coding transcripts (Carninci et al. 2005; Kapranov et al. 2005). In fact, the number of non-coding RNA in the human genome is more than double compared to protein-coding RNA (NONCODE database version v5.0 (www.noncode.org); GENCODE database release 32 (www.gencodegenes.org/human). Because this newly found system clearly had many more aspects to be considered and had a more complex nature altogether than the simple idea of one sequence resulting in one protein, ncRNAs had to be classified. One crude

classification system was based on their proximity to gene-coding genes, such as overlapping, cis-antisense, bidirectional or intronic ncRNAs (Carninci et al. 2005; Kapranov et al. 2007). The problem with this classification was, however, that very few ncRNAs match only one category. Another way to roughly classify ncRNAs is their size, which is used in the determination of lncRNA. They are characterized by their size of more than 200 nucleotides. On the other hand, other ncRNAs such as micro RNA (miRNA), small interfering RNA (siRNA) and transfer RNA (tRNA) are functionally so different that the size should not be considered an indicator of the nature of the ncRNA.

Focusing on lncRNAs, they come with various functions and structures and interact with different targets, therefore having to do with many endogenous pathways. Depending on their location either in the nucleus or in the cytoplasm, lncRNAs may interfere with transcriptional or post-transcriptional events, or translation of messenger RNA (mRNA). Examples of the functions of nuclear lncRNAs include chromosome scaffolding, chromatin remodeling, alternative splicing, epigenetic modification and transcriptional activation or silencing (Clemson et al. 2009; Hung et al. 2011; Mercer et al. 2011; Derrien et al. 2012; Kugel and Goodrich 2012; Lee 2012). In almost all cases, these functions require lncRNA interacting with RNA-binding proteins, forming nuclear lncRNAassociated ribonucleoprotein complexes (lncRNPs). While cytoplasmic lncRNAs also form lncRNPs, they are generally less understood. Mercer et al. (2011) presented results showing that cytoplasmic lncRNPs can consist of lncRNAs transcribed from nuclear DNA or expressed locally in the cytoplasm from mitochondria. These cytoplasmic lncRNPs can direct cytoplasmic events vital for maintaining cellular structure and functions, such as protein localization and turnover, mRNA translation and stability, obtainability of cytoplasmic factors, and protein scaffolding (Yoon et al. 2013; Rashid et al. 2016).

When discovered in the first place, the massive amount of lncRNAs took researchers by surprise and led them to believe it was only transcriptional noise derived from low DNA polymerase fidelity (Struhl 2007). However, it was soon noticed that expression of many lncRNAs is restricted to specific developmental contexts. In vivo studies carried out with

mice showed large numbers of lncRNAs specifically expressed only during embryonic development or stem cell differentiation (Amaral and Mattick 2008; Dinger et al. 2008). The overall importance of ribonucleic acid, RNA, can be highlighted with s a scientific hypothesis that all life begun with RNA. It is a simple structure – an easy way to store information (Mercer et al. 2009). Presumably, the double-stranded version with a slight extra to its structure, DNA, slowly developed from the single-stranded RNA as an upgraded version. Due to its higher stability, DNA then made it possible to start producing the material for which it contained instructions. As evolution went on, more complex and elaborate organisms were developed. Currently it is known that most of the genome in intricate organisms is regulated by far more steps than simply DNA sequence leading to a certain protein (Carninci et al. 2005; Kapranov et al. 2007). Instead, transcriptional activity is developmentally regulated. After the discovery of ncRNAs it was clear the development of RNA did not stop when first strands of DNA emerged; DNA never actually replaced RNA. It went along handling its own role and territory, which was undiscovered until recent times.

2.3.1 Long non-coding RNA in disease

An important distinctive factor between lncRNAs and protein-coding RNAs is that lncRNAs are more tissue or cell selective (Ramos et al. 2013). This makes them encouraging targets for medical research as they are likely to contribute only to the functions of their specific tissue or organ. Specialization in certain tissues also supports the theory that lncRNAs must have an impact on the embryonic development of the organ and tissue of question. If every possible combination of functions and structures of living organisms was stored solely inside protein-coding DNA, it should be possible to link all genetic diseases to mutations in that code. A codon – a unique set of three nucleotides that determine a single amino acid – can be observed for aberrations (Crick et al. 1961). The results can be used to predict possible outcomes in the order of amino acids being linked together, affecting the structure, folding and function of the final protein and the possible effects taking place in the organ and entire organism. However, the genetic background of various diseases and conditions are yet to be explained despite the human genome has been sequenced, which suggests coding sequences do not work alone (Wapinski and Chang 2011).

As recently as in the beginning of the century, small- and large-scale mutations in the non-coding regions of the genome were easily labeled unimportant. Examples include chromosomal translocations, copy-number alterations, nucleotide expansions and single nucleotide polymorphisms. Recently, the interest in them has been increasingly growing. It is still challenging to point out, which of these mutations have to do with human disease and how exactly they contribute to them. When mutations take place in the mostly well established, protein coding genome, outcomes are predictable. Instead, when they take place in the vastly unknown non-coding regions, even the most sophisticated estimates are just speculation (Fig 6).



Figure 6: A graph of possible mutations taking place in any regions of the genome and the known effects. When a mutation occurs in protein coding genes, the consequences are well established and even predictable. However, the same does not apply to the non-coding genes. Even if it is possible to detect a change in sequence and function of the gene, the full mechanisms are unclear (Wapinski and Chang 2011).

2.3.2 Cardiac long non-coding RNAs

Matkovich et al. (2014) characterized 321 cardiac-specific lncRNAs by comparing mouse RNA sequencing from the heart, liver and skin. Further on, 52 of them were found abundant and highly cardiac-enriched. Approximately two out of three of these lncRNAs were expressed by cardiomyocytes, whereas cardiac fibroblasts contributed to only 2%. Li et al. (2013) used deep sequencing and microarrays to profile lncRNA expression and identified several upregulated lncRNAs in mouse hearts after treating them with a β adrenoreceptor agonist, which increases heart rate. Another similar study profiled upregulated lncRNAs in mouse hearts after ischemia or reperfusion, also finding a large

number of matches (Liu et al. 2014). An even more intriguing discovery was made by Ounzain et al. (2014) when they identified 1521 novel lncRNAs that were not listed in the mouse genome at the time. Interestingly, almost three in four of these lncRNAs were found in the human genome, suggesting possible conservation in human. Especially ultraconserved regions (UCRs), defined as DNA stretches at least 200 bp long conserved in human, rat and mouse genome, have been associated with congenital abnormalities in the heart and other organs as well (Baira et al. 2008; Martinez et al. 2010; Liu et al. 2019). These studies and numbers are just examples of how much potential the cardiac research field sees in lncRNAs.

The first evidence of the relevance of lncRNAs in CVDs originate from vast genome studies that identified a susceptibility locus of coronary artery disease on the human chromosome 9p21.53 (Helgadottir et al. 2007; McPherson et al. 2007; Samani et al. 2007). This locus was found to be adjacent to the last exon of a specific lncRNA, which was named ANRIL (or CDKN2BAS). The three research groups independently came to the conclusion that single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) on ANRIL significantly increases the risk of coronary artery disease. Later on, these suspicions turned out to be correct: ANRIL SNPs have been linked to the development of coronary atherosclerosis, peripheral artery disease, carotid arteriosclerosis among other CVDs (Chen et al. 2014). Another discovery connected lncRNAs and MI for the first time, arose from genetic studies showing enriched SNPs in a MI-susceptible locus coding for a lncRNA that was later named MIAT (also known as RNCR2/AK028326/Gomafu) (Ishii et al. 2006).

Despite these achievements in lncRNA and CVD research, the role of lncRNAs is only starting to be acknowledged. Surprisingly few lncRNAs have been reliably associated with hypertrophy when compared to the thousands of upregulated lncRNAs in infarction studies (Matkovich et al. 2014). In addition to disease, lncRNAs regulate and control embryonic cardiac development (Grote et al. 2013; Klattenhoff et al. 2013). An example is Braveheart (Bvht), which was discovered by Klattenhoff et al. (2013) after they used multiple ESC differentiation strategies to find necessary factors for cardiac gene activation. After birth, lncRNAs remain essential for normal cardiac function throughout lifespan. Han et al. (2014) discovered a group of lncRNAs partially overlapping the gene

locus Myh7, coding for β -MHC. These lncRNAs were named myosin heavy-chainassociated RNA transcripts (Mhrt). Their research was one of the first major ones proving the relevance of lncRNAs to cardiac hypertrophy. After inducing cardiac hypertrophy in mice by transverse aortic constriction (TAC) surgery the expression of Mhrt was dynamically downregulated. In addition, TAC has been shown to induce isoform change from Myh7 to Myh6, which is characteristic of cardiomyopathy (Miyata et al. 2000; Krenz and Robbins 2004). Respectively, overexpression of Mhrt after TAC significantly reduced hypertrophy and improved cardiac function in mice (Han et al. 2014).

By today, many research groups have identified different lncRNA strands that contribute to the complex chains of events in cardiac functionality and generation. Nonetheless, no one has been able to take these findings to be tested and developed towards possible treatments for heart illnesses. Viereck et al. (2016) compared the lncRNA transcriptome between TAC and sham operated mice. The group discovered a specific conserved lncRNA cardiac hypertrophy associated transcript (Chast) that was upregulated in hypertrophic cardiomyocytes after it had been activated by pro-hypertrophic transcription factors. In addition, overexpressing Chast was effective enough to promote hypertrophy both in vitro and in vivo with no other hypertrophy-promoting factors on site. Correspondingly, blocking the effect of Chast with GapmeR antisense oligonucleotides prevented cardiac hypertrophic growth after TAC surgery. The researchers also found Chast to be upregulated in aortic stenosis patients.

Another known pro-hypertrophic lncRNA is cardiac hypertrophy associated epigenetic regulator, cardiac-hypertrophy-associated epigenetic regulator (Chaer). Wang et al. (2016) reported Chaer cardiac knockout mice suffered less hypertrophic growth and fibrosis after TAC than wild type control group. Respectively, Chaer overexpression resulted in cardiomyocyte growth. Cardiac hypertrophy related factor (CHRF) was discovered by Wang et al. (2014) when the group profiled ATII -regulated lncRNAs. TAC in murine hearts and human heart failure samples showed upregulation of CHFR in vivo and resulted in increased cardiomyocyte hypertrophy and apoptosis. ATII treatment in vitro had the similar effects.

Silent information regulator factor 2 related enzyme 1 (Sirt1) antisense lncRNA was found by Li et al. (2018) and it significantly promoted cardiomyocyte proliferation both in vitro and in vivo, while the suppression of Sirt1 antisense lncRNA had the opposite effect. Cardiomyocyte proliferation regulator (CPR), on the other hand, appears to block proliferation (Ponnusamy et al. 2019). The expression of CPR is significantly higher in adult hearts than during fetal stage. Moreover, inhibition of CPR restores cardiac function and reduces scarring after MI, and overexpressing CPR in neonatal mouse hearts nearly obliterated their regeneration capacity. Finally, as promising as these couple of examples of cardiac lncRNAs appear, the world has barely revealed the tip of the iceberg. Piccoli et al. (2017) managed to identify over 1400 different lncRNAs deregulated in overloaded mouse cardiomyocytes, suggesting there is plenty of work left for the future. All the examples covered in this chapter are summarized in Table 1.

2.4 Transcription factors

As briefly mentioned above when discussing current targets of interest in cardiac regeneration research, transcription factors are an extensive yet promising direction. According to one definition: "Transcription factors are key proteins that decode the information in our genome to express a precise and unique set of proteins and RNA molecules in each cell type in our body" (Estella et al. 2012). They are proteins holding specific domains that bind to the promoter regions of particular genes. They also contain a domain that interacts with RNA polymerase II or other transcription factors and therefore control the amount of mRNA produced by the gene in question. In this following paragraph I will focus on a couple of cardiac-specific transcription factors that have a significant role in cardiac development and hypertrophy.

| Name | Single / group | Function in the heart | Ref. |
|---|----------------|---|--|
| MIAT | single | Normal function prevents myocardial infarct, SNPs increase risk. Adjacent to the locus of a susceptility gene. | Ishii et al. 2006 |
| ANRIL | single | Normal function prevents coronary artery disease; SNPs significantly increase risk. Exon adjacent to the locus of a susceptility gene. | Helgadottir et al. 2007; McPherson et al. 2007; Samani et al. 2007 |
| Myosin heavy-chain- associated RNA transcript (Mhrt) | group | Hypertrophic stress causes downregulation. Partially overlapping <i>Myh7</i> locus, which is why these lncRNAs can affect myosin heavy chain synthesis. Restoring levels to pre-stress levels protects heart from hypertrophy and failure. | Han et al. 2014 |
| Cardiac hypertrophy related factor (CHRF) | single | Upregulation causes cardiomyocyte hypertrophy and apoptosis. Stress induces expression, regulated via sngiotensin II. | Wang et al. 2014 |
| Braveheart (Bvht) | single | Essential for for cardiac gene activation and embryonic development of the heart. | Klattenhoff et al. 2016 |
| Cardiac hypertrophy associated transcript (Chast) | single | Activating with pro-hypertrophic transcription factors causes upregulation in cardiomyocytes. Capable of promoting hypertrophy on its own both in vitro and in vivo. | Viereck et al. 2016 |
| Cardiac-hypertrophy- associated epigenetic regulator (Chaer) | single | Strongly hypertrophic. Myocardial inhibition results in less hypertrophy. Overexpression promotes cardiomyocyte growth. | Wang et al. 2016 |
| Silent information regulator factor 2 related enzyme 1 (Sirt1) antisense lncRNA | single | Promotes cardiomyocyte proliferation. | Li et al. 2018 |
| Cardiomyocyte proliferation regulator (CPR) | single | Inhibits cardiomyocyte proliferation. Overexpression in neonatal hearts significantly decreases regeneration capability, while inhibition in adult hearts restores function and reduces scarring after myocardial infarct. | Ponnusamy et al. 2019 |

Table 1: Examples of studied cardiac-selective long non-coding RNAs (lncRNA) and their effects. SNP = single nucleotide polymorphism.

The family of GATA transcription factors consists of six members (GATA1-6), all of which bind to DNA nucleotides with their two zinc finger structures (Ko and Engel 1993; Merika and Orkin 1993) (Fig 7). Their name origins from their binding to (A/T)GATA(A/G) sequence. Functions of GATA transcription factors cover cell differentiation and proliferation among many others throughout lifespan from infancy to old age. The first subfamily, GATA1, -2 and -3 affect mostly blood cells (Molkentin 2000). GATA1 regulates the development of red blood cells, mast cells, megakaryocytes et cetera. GATA2, on the other hand, has an effect on endothelial cells in blood vessels, fibroblasts, monocytes and red blood cell progenitors to some extent, among others. Targets of GATA3 include T lymphocytes, mast cells, the brain and kidneys (Patient and McGhee 2002). The second subfamily – GATA4, -5 and -6 are located particularly in internal organs: liver, intestines, lungs and heart, for instance (Arceci et al. 1993; Kelley et al. 1993; Laverriere et al. 1994; Morrisey et al. 1996; Morrisey et al. 1997). GATA4 and -6 are myocardium-specific in the heart, whereas GATA5 is mostly located in the endocardium (Charron and Nemer, 1999). In each organ GATA transcription factors control genetic expression, function and development of that specific type of tissue. This survey will focus especially on GATA4 due to its cardiac functions. In addition to the heart, it can be found in the gastrointestinal tract, the pancreas, the liver, the bladder and the gonads to some extent (Grépin et al. 1994; The Human Protein Atlas – GATA4).



Figure 7: Functional structures of GATA4, -5 and -6. The zinc finger structures (Zn) and nuclear localization sequence (nls) are responsible for binding to DNA and cofactors. Topologically associating domains (TAD) activate transcription of target genes (Molkentin 2000).
Pressure-induced overload has been shown to stimulate both expression and DNAbinding of GATA4 and -6 in mice (van Berlo et al. 2013a). Excessive expression has also been reliably linked with increased hypertrophy in vitro and in vivo (Liang et al. 2001; van Berlo et al. 2013a). Oka et al. (2006) and van Berlo (2013a) have demonstrated how reducing GATA4 expression in mouse heart reduces hypertrophy caused by pressure overload, and GATA6 deletion also showed decrease in ATII and phenylephrine based hypertrophy. These results indicate GATA4 and -6 have a great significance in LVH.

GATA4 regulates the expression of many sarcomere protein coding genes, such as Myh7, troponins I and C and natriuretic peptides Nppa and Nppb (Molkentin 2000). It affects many proteins related to hypertrophy and cardiac function in general: endothelin-1 (ET-1), muscarine receptors and A1 adenosine receptor to name a few. Hypertrophy and hypertrophic factors, such as ATII, stimulate GATA4, which further stimulates transcription of ATRs and Myh7 (Hasegawa et al. 1997; Herzig et al. 1997). GATA4 stimulation, however, does not necessarily mean an increase in the total amount of GATA4 – it can also mean an improvement in its affinity to DNA. This happens by changes in the post-translational modifications of GATA4, such as phosphorylation, acetylation and protein-protein interactions (Katanasaka et al. 2016).

GATA6 is a less known hypertrophic transcription factor but evidence of its necessity for hypertrophic response has been found (van Berlo et al. 2013a). It works by the side of GATA4 and can take over its duties in some cases. Cardiac differentiation is an example of a process in which the tasks of GATA4 and GATA6 overlap in many respects (Pikkarainen et al. 2004; Zhao et al. 2008, van Berlo et al. 2013a). This explains why GATA4 knockout animal models can still express some target genes of GATA4 (Pu et al. 2004; Zeisberg et al. 2005; Bisping et al. 2006).

2.4.2 Protein-protein interactions

Knocking GATA4 out of the genome could seem a suitable way to target LVH as it so strongly enhances hypertrophy, but this would lead to severe issues considering that GATA4 is also needed for cardiac development and maintenance. Several studies have shown homozygous GATA4 knockout mice suffering severe cardiac developmental disorders (Pu et al. 2004; Zeisberg et al. 2005; Oka et al. 2006). Most die during embryonic stage and the ones that survive express clear symptoms of cardiac failure (Pu et al. 2004; Rojas et al. 2008; Mohammadi et al. 2017). Rather than labeling GATA4 good or bad, one must take a deeper look at its interactions with cofactors. Other transcription factors can bind to GATA4 and regulate its activity. This is called protein-protein interaction, as it involves at least two different proteins working together in a unique pattern. Some of them increase the expression of hypertrophic genes while some induce cell cycle and proliferation. Abnormal protein-protein interactions cause various diseases, which has led many scientists to searching for an inhibitor against these interactions (Scott et al. 2016). Apart from LVH, examples include cervical cancer, leukemia, infection and neurodegenerative conditions (Ryan and Matthews 2005).

Our research group has done previous work on the interaction between GATA4 and its cofactor homeobox protein NKX2-5. Like GATA4 it is essential for normal cardiac development and homozygous knockout mouse models die during embryonic phase (Lyons et al. 1995). NKX2-5 has a high affinity for T(C/T)AAGTG sequence (Chen and Schwartz 1995) and it alone can induce hypertrophic genes, such as natriuretic peptides (Akazawa and Komuro 2003). The heterodimer complex of GATA4 and NKX2-5 is a highly effective activator of hypertrophic genes. A study by Pikkarainen et al. (2003) showed that GATA4-NKX2-5 interaction induces the expression of BNP in stretched cardiomyocytes, for example. Previously, our group has discovered a selection of small molecules that affect the synergy between GATA4 and NKX2-5 (Välimäki et al. 2017). Chemical structures of hit compounds are seen in Figure 8. No previous inhibitors have been published apart from one compound that prevents GATA4 from binding to DNA (El-Hachem et al. 2011). Isoxazole compound 3i-1000 showed the highest potential for a GATA4-NKX2-5 interaction inhibitor, so our group studied the chemical space around the molecule and created more 200 new potential derivates from it (Välimäki et al. 2017; Jumppanen et al. 2019).



Figure 8: Chemical structures of three hit compounds for GATA4-NKX2-5 synergy modifiers by Välimäki et al. (2017). Compounds 3i-1000 and 3i-777 inhibited the interaction, whereas 3i-595 enhanced it.

2.4.3 Friend of GATA 2 - FOG2

The zinc finger transcriptional regulator Friend of GATA2 (FOG2, also known as ZFPM2) is a regulative protein that lacks the ability to bind to DNA by itself, but instead pairs up with other transcription factors to regulate the transcription of specific genes. It is most highly expressed in cardiac and nervous tissues. In the heart, the most essential roles of FOG2 are found in the development and morphogenesis of coronary vessels (Tevosian et al. 2000). Fog2-/- knockout mouse embryos die around embryonic day (E)13.5 with severe deficiencies in cardiac development: large ventricular septal defect, thin myocardium, overriding aorta and grave underdevelopment of the coronary vascular plexus. Under normal conditions, epicardial cells go through a transition to mesenchymal cells, giving rise to the subepicardial coronary vasculature. Despite an intact epicardial layer forms and epicardium-specific genes are expressed in Fog2-/- heart, no markers of cardiac vessel development are detected. Expression of FOG2 under the control of Myh6 promoter, which is restricted to cardiomyocytes only, partially recovered the damage in cardiac development, but the other deficits remained.

In the myocardium the most important co-factor for FOG2 is GATA4 (Cantor and Orkin 2005). Transfecting FOG2 transiently in primary cardiomyocytes has been shown to either enhance or inhibit GATA4 transcriptional activity (Lu et al. 1999; Svensson et al. 1999). Whether it functions as an enhancer or an inhibitor depends on the cell line and the promoter in which they interact. Lu et al. (1999) investigated how FOG2 affects the interaction of GATA4 with α -MYH promoter and discovered that in COS-1 cells it enhanced this interaction, whereas in neonatal rat cardiomyocytes the effect was

inhibitory. Crispino et al. (2001) reported that a single amino acid mutation in Gata4 inhibits the interaction between GATA4 and FOG2 in mice. They develop similar developmental deficits as Fog2-/- knockout mice and die by embryonic day (E) 13.5. The mutation did not impact protein expression or DNA binding properties of the transcription factors. The effects of FOG2 in the adult heart were investigated by Zhou et al. (2001). Inhibition of myocardial FOG2 in adult mice did not result in structural deficits as in embryos, but they developed severe cardiac failure symptoms and died within a couple of months. These results suggest GATA4-FOG2 interaction is necessary for cardiomyocyte development and therefore an interesting target to look at in cardiac drug development.

In a recent study, Liu et al. (2019) carried out experiments on P19 cells, which are mouse embryo-derived teratocarcinoma cells. A lncRNA with ultra-conserved elements (UCEs), named uc.245, was either overexpressed or silenced in the P19 cells. The group transfected the cells with recombinant pGPU6/GFP/Neo-FOG2 or pGPU6/GFP/NeoshRNA FOG2 vectors to up- or downregulate FOG2 gene. The group hypothesized uc.245 would influence P19 proliferation and apoptosis via FOG2. The results showed that when uc.245 was overexpressed, sh-FOG2 further repressed proliferation but induced apoptosis. However, overexpressing FOG2 obviously weakened proliferation inhibition and apoptosis driven by uc.245. These results provided evidence that uc.245, an example of a cardiac lncRNA with UCEs, functioned closely related to FOG2.

3 AIM OF THE STUDY

This project aims at gaining a deeper understanding of the effects of three types of lncRNAs – here named lncRNA-J, -C and -F – in neonatal mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes. The phenomena in focus include doxorubicin- (DOX) induced apoptosis and hypertrophy after ET-1 induced stress on the cardiomyocytes. Our group has previously discovered that lncRNA C and F are upregulated and J downregulated in the neonatal mouse myocardium but soon to be leveled out during the following weeks, which is the same time gap where cardiomyocytes lose their cardiac regeneration

capability (Fig 9; Pohjolainen et al. unpublished). In addition, they have been shown to be mostly expressed in cardiomyocytes instead of other cell types, such as endothelial cells. The lncRNAs of interest will be silenced in neonatal mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes using antisense LNA GapmeRs. Then, known hypertrophic and apoptotic markers will be immunostained and their fluorescence signals will be used to analyze the cardiomyocytes.

Additionally, previous hit compounds for GATA4-NKX2-5 interaction will be tested for their effects on GATA4-FOG2 interaction, using a similar COS-1 cell luciferase assay as described in Jumppanen et al. (2019). As the method has already proven to be functional with GATA4 and NKX2-5 plasmid transfections, it is worth seeing if some of these compounds could, in fact, have efficacy in manipulating interactions of GATA4 with more than just one of its cofactors. This part of the study will be comprised of first setting up optimizing the GATA4-FOG2 luciferase assay and then exposing the cells to the test compounds.



Figure 9: Three LncRNAs go through significant changes in their expression during the first postnatal days in neonatal mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes. The cardiomyocytes were isolated on postnatal day 1 (P1) and cultured for one (P2) or four (P5) days. The results are shown as means \pm the standard error of the mean (SEM) (n=3-7) (Pohjolainen et al. unpublished).

4 MATERIALS AND METHODS

4.1 Reagents and other compounds

Dulbecco's modified eagle medium/Ham's F12 nutrient mixture (DMEM/F-12; 31330-038), penicillin-streptomycin (PenStrep) and Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS) used in neonatal cardiomyocyte cultures were purchased from Gibco Life Sciences (Paisley, UK). Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), ET-1, insulin – transferrin - sodium selenite solution, sodium pyruvate (NaP), triiodothyronine (T3) and bovine serum albumin (BSA) were from Sigma (Darmstadt, Germany). DOX for cardiomyocyte apoptosis assays was from Tocris Bioscience (Bristol, UK).

LNA GapmeRs were purchased from Qiagen (Hilden, Germany). Lipofectamine 3000 and P3000 reagents for LNA GapmeR transfections were from Thermo Fisher Scientific. Tromethamine - Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (TE) buffer was purchased from Integrated DNA Technologies (Coralville, Iowa, USA).

Immunofluorescent staining antibody monoclonal anti-α-actinin (sarcomeric) antibody produced in mouse (A7811) and DNA-staining 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) were purchased from Sigma. CellEventTM Caspase-3/7 Green Detection Reagent was from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, California, USA). Alexa FluorTM 488 goat anti-mouse IgG (A-11029), Alexa FluorTM 647 goat anti-mouse IgG (A21236) and Alexa FluorTM 647 phalloidin (A22287) were obtained from Thermo Fisher Scientific (Waltham, Massachusetts, USA).

Antifoam 204 for plasmid-containing bacteria cultures was from Sigma. FuGENE6 reagent, which was used for plasmid transfections in COS-1 cells was from Promega (Madison, Wisconsin, USA). Test compounds for GATA4-FOG2 interaction screening were synthetized in the Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Helsinki.

4.2 Neonatal mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes

Neonatal mouse cardiomyocytes were harvested from maximum 48 h old C57BL/6JOlaHsd mice. The mice were decapitated. Hearts were isolated surgically, and the ventricles were separated from other tissue and atrium in a dish with phosphate buffered saline (PBS). The ventricular cardiomyocytes were dissociated into a suspension using Miltenyi Biotec Neonatal (Mouse) Heart Dissociation Kit (reference number 130-098-373, Macs Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany). Cardiomyocytes were isolated with Miltenyi Biotec Neonatal Cardiomyocyte Isolation Kit, mouse (reference number 30-100-825, Macs Miltenyi Biotec). The cardiomyocytes were suspended and cultured in DMEM/F-12 supplemented with 10% FBS, 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 µg/ml streptomycin. To enhance attachment, 96-well plates were coated with gelatin: 0.1% gelatin in purified H₂O incubated at +37 °C, saturated air humidity, 5% CO₂ for 30 - 60min. Cardiomyocytes were plated on the coated 96-well plates at densities varying between 30 000 and 50 000 cells/well. After plating the cardiomyocytes were incubated at +37 °C, saturated air humidity, 5% CO2 for 24 h. After 24 h, those cardiomyocytes that were to be transfected 72 h after plating had their medium changed into complete serum free medium (CSFM): DMEM/F-12 supplemented with 5 µg/ml of insulin, 5 µg/ml of transferrin, 5 ng/ml of selenium, 2.8 mM NaP, 1 % BSA, 0.1 nM T3, 100 U/ml of penicillin and 100 µg/ml of streptomycin.

4.3 Exposure to endothelin-1 and doxorubicin

Cardiomyocytes were exposed to ET-1 or 1% BSA in DMEM, which was the solvent of ET-1, diluted to 100 nM in CSFM 24 h or 72 h after plating. Exposure times were 24 h at +37 °C, saturated air humidity, 5% CO₂, and transfections were carried out within 30 min from the initiation of the exposures.

DOX was added for two purposes: a positive control for apoptosis and combined with the antisense LNA GapmeRs to see if they affect the cytotoxicity of DOX. For preliminary experiments, cardiomyocytes were exposed to 3 and 1 μ M of DOX. When combined with antisense LNA GapmeRs only 1 μ M concentration was used. Exposure time was 23 h at

+37 °C, saturated air humidity, 5% CO_2 , and transfections were carried out within 30 min from the initiation of the exposures. An equal number of wells was exposed to DMSO diluted to CSFM in the same ratio as DOX.

4.4 LNA GapmeR transfections

The target lncRNAs, lncRNA C, F and J, were silenced with antisense locked nucleic acid (LNA) GapmeRs. LNA GapmeRs are oligonucleotides comprised of three parts. In the middle, there is a DNA sequence antisense to the target RNA. The LNA parts increase binding affinity and protect the GapmeR from being deactivated by nuclease enzymes. When LNA GapmeR finds its target RNA, they are attached to one another with the antisense sequence and the GapmeR catalyzes degradation of the RNA by RNAse (Fig 10).



Figure 10: The mechanism of silencing RNA by antisense LNA GapmeRs.

Cardiomyocytes were exposed to 100 nM GapmeRs 1-3 for lncRNA J, GapmeRs 3 and 6 for lncRNA F, and GapmeR 3 for lncRNA C. Later, they will be referred either as GapmeRs J-1, J-2, J-3, F-3, F-6 and C-3 or lncRNA J/F/C GapmeRs. A larger group of LNA GapmeRs has been previously tested and these six were chosen based on preliminary results by Pohjolainen et al. (unpublished).

In lncRNA J GapmeR experiments the transfections were carried out 24 h after plating the cardiomyocytes, whereas in lncRNA F and C GapmeR trials the cardiomyocytes were incubated for 72 h after plating (Fig 11). The time points were based on the natural expression pattern of the lncRNAs in neonatal mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes (Pohjolainen et al. unpublished). First, the GapmeRs were diluted with DMEM/F-12. In the case of all other GapmeRs but C-3, 2 μ l/ μ g DNA reagent lipid P3000 (Thermo Scientific) was added too. The DNA in LNA GapmeRs is usually negatively charged, and P3000 enhances the transfection by coating the negative charge. Lipofectamine 3000 reagent (Thermo Scientific) was diluted with DMEM/F-12 and mixed 1:1 with the GapmeR dilution. The GapmeR – reagent – solution was incubated for 10 – 15 min at room temperature (~ 22 °C) and added to cells so that the final concentration of the GapmeRs was 100 nM. After transfections the cardiomyocytes were incubated at +37 °C, saturated air humidity, 5% CO₂ for 23 (apoptosis assays) or 24 h (hypertrophy assays). For each experiment, negative control groups were transfected either with GapmeR negative control A alone or with P3000 reagent.

4.5 Immunofluorescence staining and high content screening

4.5.1 Caspase-3/7 reporter

Cardiomyocytes were stained with 7 μ M CellEventTM Caspase-3/7 Green Detection Reagent in 5 %FBS in PBS (later: caspase reporter). The reporter becomes fluorescent and binds to DNA if caspase-3 and caspase-7 –common biomarkers for apoptosis – are expressed and activated in the cells. This was carried out 23 h after the transfections (Fig 11). Cardiomyocytes were incubated with the caspase reporter at +37 °C, saturated air humidity, 5% CO₂ for 60 min. Plates were washed 2 x 5 min with PBS 24 h after transfections and in apoptosis assays 60 min after applying caspase reporter (Fig 11). The cardiomyocytes were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) for 15 min at room temperature (~22 °C). The wells were again washed 3 x 5 min with PBS. The cardiomyocytes were permeabilized with 0.1% Triton X-100 in PBS for 10 min. Then, they were washed 2 x 5 min with PBS. Non-selective binding sites were blocked with 4% FBS in PBS for 45 – 60 min at room temperature. Primary antibody dilution was prepared to 4% FBS in PBS and added to cells. The cardiomyocytes were incubated for 60 min in a shaker (300 rpm). The primary antibody solution for both apoptosis and hypertrophy assays included anti-a-actinin at a dilution of 1:600. After incubation, cardiomyocytes were washed 3 x 5 min with PBS. Secondary antibody dilutions were prepared to 4% FBS in PBS and added to cells. The cardiomyocytes were incubated for 45 min in a shaker (300 rpm) protected from light. For apoptosis assays, the secondary antibody solution contained AlexaFluor[™] 647 nm anti-mouse at 1:200 and 0.1 mg/ml DAPI at 1:50. For hypertrophy assays the secondary antibody solution contained AlexaFluor[™] 488 nm anti-mouse at 1:200, AlexaFluor[™] 647 nm phalloidin at 1:50 and 1 µg/ml of DAPI. Finally, the cardiomyocytes were washed 3 x 5 min with PBS. The cardiomyocytes were left in PBS and the plates were stored at +4 °C protected from light.



Figure 11: Cardiomyocyte treatment flow chart. Yellow boxes mark lncRNA C and F GapmeR experiments and purple boxes lncRNA J GapmeR experiments.

4.5.3 High Content Screening

Immunostained cardiomyocytes were imaged and analyzed with ThermoFisher CellInsight CX5; a high content screening imaging instrument, using a 10x objective. In Compartmental Analysis protocol, plates were imaged for DAPI (at 386 nm), caspase-3/7 (at 485 nm) and α -actinin (at 650 nm). Cells were identified by their nuclear staining with DAPI. Cardiomyocytes were differentiated from other cell types with the presence of α actinin. DAPI, caspase reporter and α -actinin intensities inside the nuclei were measured. Additionally to intensity measurements, in preliminary experiments a fluorescence intensity threshold for caspase-3/7 positive and negative cells was manually set as described by Karhu et al. (2018). Morphology Explorer protocol imaged the plates for DAPI (at 386 nm), for α -actinin (at 485 nm) and phalloidin (at 650 nm). The cells were again identified with DAPI and cardiomyocytes were selected with α -actinin. In addition, only cells with 1 or 2 nuclei were included to further specify the differentiation from other cell types. From α -actinin and phalloidin images the number of fibers detected, their area and their alignment were measured in addition to intensity measurements. Fiber alignment was measured as the standard deviation of angles formed between individual fibers. Therefore, a higher fiber alignment value means the fibers are less aligned, and in theory, perfectly parallel fibers would have a value of zero.

4.6.1 COS-1 cultures

Frozen COS-1 cells were thawed from liquid nitrogen containers and cultured in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS and 1% PS. They were cultured in 75 cm² Easy Flasks (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and kept at +37 °C, saturated air humidity, 5% CO2. The cells were passaged 1:10 twice a week. For transfections, COS-1 were plated on Isoplate 96-well plates with white walls (PerkinElmer, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA) at a density of 10 000 cells/well.

4.6.2 Plasmid production and purification

The empty expression plasmid MT2 (pMT2, 4976 bp) and mouse GATA4 expressing plasmid (pMT2-GATA4, 4976 + 1700 bp) were donations from DB Wilson (Department of Pediatrics, St. Louis Children's Hospital) (Arceci et al. 1993). The mouse FOG2 expression plasmid (pCS2-FOG2, 4095 + 5477 bp) was a gift from M Heikinheimo (Children's Hospital, University of Helsinki) (Tevosian et al. 1999; Anttonen et al. 2003). The luciferase reporter plasmid NP-112 with rat BNP (rBNP) minimal promoter region attached with a -90 tandem binding site for GATA4 has been previously described by Grépin et al. (1994) and Kinnunen et al. (2015). The plasmids were produced in bacterial culture. Bacteria containing the desired plasmid was added to lysogeny broth supplemented with 0,1% ampicillin and 0,1% antifoam 204 first diluted 1:10. Bacteria was cultured overnight at + 37 °C in a shaker, 250 rpm.

Plasmids were purified with NucleoBond® Xtra plasmid purification kit midi according to the instructions (reference number 740410.10/.50/.100, Macherey-Nagel, Düren, Germany). DNA density was measured with NanoDrop 1000 -spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific). Then, the plasmids were diluted with sterile H2O to the desired concentration and stored at $+ 4 \, ^{\circ}$ C.

4.6.3 Plasmid transfections

Each transfection group per experiment was designed so that the total amount of DNA was equal between groups. In practice, this meant altering the amount of the empty pMT2 plasmid in ratio with plasmids pMT2-GATA4 and pCS-FOG2. NP-112 was not changed between groups and was adjusted to the amount pMT2-GATA4 so that NP-112:pMT2-GATA4 ratio was 4:1 or 5:1. FuGENE6 was added at a reagent:DNA ratio of 3:1. DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS and 1% PS was aspirated from COS-1 cells and replaced with 80 μ l/well of serum-free DMEM. Then, 20 μ l/well of DNA-FuGENE6 mixture was added to the cells. The plate was incubated at +37 °C, saturated air humidity, 5% CO₂ for 24 h.

4.6.4 Luciferase measurement

Luciferase was activated with neolite assay kit as described in the instructions by the manufacturer (reference number 6016716, PerkinElmer). The bottom of the plate was covered with a white plastic sticker, and luminescence signal was measured with Victor2 1420 Multilabel Counter (PerkinElmer).

4.7. Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were carried out with SPSS statistics 25 software (SPSS, Chicago, Illinois, USA). LNA GapmeR and exposure results were analyzed with one-way ANOVA and Tukey HSD post-hoc test. All groups were compared to each other and to the negative control group. Results were considered statistically significant when p<0.05.

5 RESULTS

5.1 Silencing long non-coding RNAs in neonatal mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes

5.1.1 Effects of silencing the long non-coding RNAs on hypertrophic response

In the first experiments, high content screening was used to analyze hypertrophic markers in cardiomyocytes and to see if the GapmeR transfections affect these markers. DAPI was used to identify nuclei and the amount of nuclei per cell, whereas α -actinin and F-actin were the screened hypertrophic phenotype markers. Representative images from the hypertrophy assay are shown in Fig 12.



Figure 12: Representative images of neonatal mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes from the hypertrophy assay, with and without exposure to 100 nM endothelin-1 (ET-1). The cardiomyocytes were stained for α -actinin with a specific antibody, F-actin with phalloidin and the nuclei with DAPI. On the top row, cardiomyocytes had not been exposed to ET-1 and the bottom row shows cardiomyocytes exposed to ET-1 for 24 h. In the composite image DAPI is blue, α -actinin staining is green and phalloidin is magenta.

First, DAPI intensity was measured to identify nuclei. In GapmeR C-3 experiments ET-1 had no effect on DAPI intensity, whereas in lncRNA F GapmeR experiments an increase of 10–20% could be seen with the exposure (Fig 13A, 13B). In lncRNA J GapmeR experiments ET-1 decreased the intensity with a few percentages (Fig 13C). These differences were, however, very moderate and not statistically significant. The GapmeR transfections did not affect DAPI intensities.



Figure 13: Effects of GapmeR C-3 against lncRNA C (A), GapmeRs F-3, F-6 against lncRNA F (B) and GapmeRs J-1, J-2 and J-3 against lncRNA J (C) and endothelin-1 (ET-1) exposure on nuclear DNA staining intensities in neonatal cardiomyocytes. The results are shown as mean intensity values normalized to negative control A without ET-1 exposure from 3 (A) or 4 (B and C) independent experiments \pm standard error of the mean (SEM).

Intensities of α -actinin and F-actin staining were quantified to measure hypertrophy in the cardiomyocytes. In all experiments ET-1-exposed cardiomyocytes had an approximately 5–10% higher α -actinin intensity than their unexposed controls (Fig 14). The only statistical differences with ET-1 were in GapmeRs J-2 (p=0.016) and J-3 (p=0.01) compared to their unexposed controls. The GapmeRs had no effect on α -actinin intensity.

In lncRNA F and J GapmeR experiments ET-1 exposure increased F-actin staining intensity approximately 20–30% but the differences were not statistically significant (Fig 15). In GapmeR C-3 experiments the increase with ET-1 was not present at all. The GapmeRs had no effect on F-actin staining intensity (Fig 15).



Figure 14: Effects of GapmeR C-3 against lncRNA C (A), GapmeRs F-3, F-6 against lncRNA F (B) and GapmeRs J-1, J-2 and J-3 against lncRNA J (C) and endothelin-1 (ET-1) exposure on α -actinin average intensities in neonatal mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes. *p<0.05 vs. no exposure, **p<0.01 vs. no exposure (one-way ANOVA, Tukey HSD). The results are shown as mean intensity values normalized to negative control A without ET-1 exposure from 3 (A) or 4 (B and C) independent experiments \pm standard error of the mean (SEM).



Figure 15: Effects of GapmeR C-3 against lncRNA C (A), GapmeRs F-3, F-6 against lncRNA F (B) and GapmeRs J-1, J-2 and J-3 against lncRNA J (C) and endothelin-1 (ET-1) exposure on F-actin staining total intensities in neonatal mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes. The results are shown as mean intensity values normalized to negative control A without ET-1 exposure from 3 (A) or 4 (B and C) independent experiments \pm standard error of the mean (SEM).

In addition to intensities, α -actinin and F-actin fiber alignments were measured to study how hypertrophy and the GapmeRs affect fiber organization. In lncRNA J GapmeR experiments ET-1 decreased F-actin alignment value 5–10% and a few percentages of α actinin, too, but the differences were not statistically significant (Fig 16–17). Nevertheless, DMEM/F-12 had approximately 10% higher value in α -actinin and F-actin alignments with ET-1 exposure, which is contradictory to the other groups and DMEM/F-12 controls. The GapmeRs had no effect on fiber alignments.



Figure 16: Effects of GapmeR C-3 against lncRNA C (A), GapmeRs F-3, F-6 against lncRNA F (B) and GapmeRs J-1, J-2 and J-3 against lncRNA J (C) and endothelin-1 (ET-1) exposure on nuclear α -actinin fiber alignment in neonatal mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes. The results are shown as mean intensity values normalized to negative control A without ET-1 exposure from 3 (A) or 4 (B and C) independent experiments \pm standard error of the mean (SEM).



Figure 17: Effects of GapmeR C-3 against lncRNA C (A), GapmeRs F-3, F-6 against lncRNA F (B) and GapmeRs J-1, J-2 and J-3 against lncRNA J (C) and endothelin-1 (ET-1) exposure on nuclear F-actin fiber alignment in neonatal mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes. The results are shown as mean intensity values normalized to negative control A without ET-1 exposure from 3 (A) or 4 (B and C) independent experiments \pm standard error of the mean (SEM).

Another way to measure hypertrophic effects on α -actinin and F-actin fibers was the fiber average area. In all transfection groups the average area of α -actinin fibers increased approximately 5–10% with ET-1 treatment compared unexposed cardiomyocytes in lncRNA F and J GapmeR experiments, but these differences were not statistically significant (Fig 18). ET-1 had no effect in lncRNA C GapmeR experiments. In lncRNA F GapmeR experiments ET-1 increased F-actin fiber average area 10–20%. However, in

the case on DMEM/F-12 control in lncRNA F GapmeR experiments the increase was up to 50 % (Fig 19B). There were no statistically significant differences in F-actin fiber areas between individual groups, but the increase in lncRNA F experiments was significant when comparing ET-1 to DMEM-1% BSA alone (p=0.004). In lncRNA C and J GapmeR experiments this ET-1-induced increase was not present. The GapmeRs did not affect α -actinin or F-actin fiber area (Fig 18–19).



Figure 18: Effects of GapmeR C-3 against lncRNA C (A), GapmeRs F-3, F-6 against lncRNA F (B) and GapmeRs J-1, J-2 and J-3 against lncRNA J (C) and endothelin-1 (ET-1) exposure on nuclear α -actinin fiber average area. The results are shown as mean intensity values normalized to negative control A without ET-1 exposure from 3 (A) or 4 (B and C) independent experiments ± standard error of the mean (SEM).



Figure 19: Effects of GapmeR C-3 against lncRNA C (A), GapmeRs F-3, F-6 against lncRNA F (B) and GapmeRs J-1, J-2 and J-3 against lncRNA J (C) and endothelin-1 (ET-1) exposure on nuclear F-actin fiber average area in neonatal mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes. The results are shown as mean intensity values normalized to negative control A without ET-1 exposure from 3 (A) or 4 (B and C) independent experiments \pm standard error of the mean (SEM).

To recap the results from the hypertrophy assays, silencing lncRNAs C, F and J with these chosen LNA GapmeRs had no effect on α -actinin and F-actin in neonatal mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes with or without ET-1 exposure. Some marginal differences between groups could be seen but they were not statistically significant. ET-1 stimulation

affected the measured parameters, but the effect was mostly insignificant and sometimes contradictory between groups.

5.1.2 Effects of silencing the long non-coding RNAs on cardiomyocyte apoptosis

In the apoptosis assays the GapmeRs were studied for effects on DAPI, caspase-3/7 reporter and α -actinin first comparing to DOX and then combining with DOX. These experiments gave insight on whether the GapmeRs increase or decrease cardiomyocyte apoptosis and if they are capable of protecting cardiomyocytes from DOX-induced apoptosis. Representative images of cardiomyocytes from the apoptosis assay are shown in Figure 20.



Figure 20: Representative images of neonatal cardiomyocytes from the apoptosis assay, with and without exposure to 1 μ M doxorubicin (DOX) for 23 h. The cardiomyocytes were stained with a specific fluorescent antibody for α -actinin, caspase-3/7 reporter and the with DAPI. The top row shows cardiomyocytes without exposure to DOX and the bottom row with the exposure. In the composite image DAPI is blue, caspase-3/7 reporter is green and α -actinin is red.

There was no sign of increased cardiomyocyte apoptosis after silencing lncRNAs C, F or J. DOX-exposed cardiomyocytes had a significantly lower DAPI intensity than those transfected with the GapmeRs (Fig 21). This is due to one of the mechanisms of actions

of DOX; degradation of the DNA double helix structure. When cardiomyocytes were transfected with the GapmeRs together with DOX exposure, the obtained results were similar. In all experiments exposure to 1 μ M DOX for 23 hours reduced the intensity of DAPI approximately 60% compared to corresponding control groups in DMSO, which was statistically significant in lncRNA J GapmeR experiments (p<0.001) (Fig 21). The GapmeRs did not affect DAPI intensity.



Figure 21: Effects of GapmeR C-3 against lncRNA C (A), GapmeRs F-3, F-6 against lncRNA F (B) and GapmeRs J-1, J-2 and J-3 against lncRNA J (C) and doxorubicin (DOX) on nuclear DNA staining intensity in neonatal mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes. ***p<0.001 vs. DMSO (one-way ANOVA, Tukey HSD). The results are shown as mean intensity values normalized to negative control A without DOX exposure from 2 (A and B) or 3 (C) independent experiments ± standard error of the mean (SEM).

Caspase reporter intensity was significantly increased in DOX treated cardiomyocytes. In the first experiments, where DOX and lncRNA J GapmeRs were applied individually, the cells were divided into caspase positive and negative groups by setting a threshold in the intensity range. Then, the percentage of caspase positive cells was measured. The results showed nearly no apoptotic cells at all in the LNA GapmeR transfected groups (<5%), while in DOX treated cardiomyocytes the rate more than 95% (Fig 22). To further highlight the effect of DOX, cardiomyocytes exposed to 3 μ M had a nearly 20-fold higher caspase intensity compared to DMSO controls (Fig 23). There was a clear dose-dependent effect, as 1 μ M increased the intensity only 5-fold.

The difference between DOX and DMSO was also seen when cardiomyocytes were transfected with the GapmeRs together with DOX exposure (Fig 24). In lncRNA J GapmeR experiments the effect of DOX was significant with J-3 and DMEM/F-12 (p=0.021). The GapmeRs had no effect on caspase reporter intensity (Fig 23–24).



Figure 22: Effects of GapmeRs J-1, J-2 and J-3 against lncRNA J and doxorubicin (DOX) exposure on the percentage of neonatal mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes with caspase-3/7 activity. DOX exposed cardiomyocytes were > 95% caspase positive, whereas in the other groups the value was < 5%. The results are shown as percentages of caspase positive cardiomyocytes from one individual experiment.



Figure 23: Effects of GapmeRs J-1, J-2 and J-3 against lncRNA J and doxorubicin (DOX) exposure on nuclear caspase-3/7 intensity in neonatal mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes. The results are shown as intensity values normalized to negative control A from two individual experiments \pm standard error of the mean (SEM).



Figure 24: Effects of GapmeR C-3 against lncRNA C (A), GapmeRs F-3, F-6 against lncRNA F (B) and GapmeRs J-1, J-2 and J-3 against lncRNA J (C) on nuclear caspase-3/7 reporter intensity in neonatal mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes with and without doxorubicin (DOX) exposure. *p<0.05 vs. DMSO (one-way ANOVA, Tukey HSD). The results are shown as mean intensity values normalized to negative control A without DOX exposure from 2 (A and B) or 3 (C) independent experiments \pm standard error of the mean (SEM).

DOX exposure also increased nuclear α -actinin intensity. This moderate rise could first be seen in the experiments where lncRNA J GapmeRs and DOX were studied independently, although the effect was not statistically significant (Fig 25). In the following studies that combined GapmeR transfections and DOX exposure the difference was shown again. In lncRNA J and F GapmeR experiments DOX increased the α -actinin intensity approximately 10–35 % (Fig 26). In GapmeR C-3 experiments the increase was less than 10% but overall, none of the differences between individual groups were statistically significant. The tested GapmeRs had no effect on α -actinin intensities (Fig 25–26).



Figure 25: Effects of GapmeRs J-1, J-2 and J-3 against lncRNA J and doxorubicin (DOX) exposure in nuclear α -actinin intensity in neonatal mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes. The results are shown as intensity values normalized to negative control A from two individual experiments \pm standard error of the mean (SEM).



Figure 26: Effects of GapmeR C-3 against lncRNA C (A), GapmeRs F-3, F-6 against lncRNA F (B) and GapmeRs J-1, J-2 and J-3 against lncRNA J (C) on nuclear α -actinin intensity in neonatal cardiomyocytes with or without doxorubicin (DOX) exposure. The results are shown as mean intensity values normalized to negative control A without DOX exposure from 2 (A and B) or 3 (C) independent experiments ± standard error of the mean (SEM).

Overall, these results showed that the tested LNA GapmeRs did not increase apoptosis in neonatal mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes compared to or combined with DOX exposure. On the other hand, they neither had any protective effect on cardiomyocytes in

DOX-induced apoptosis. Treating cardiomyocytes with 1 or 3 μ M DOX significantly reduced the intensity of DAPI, which indicated degradation of DNA, and increased the intensity of caspase-3/7 activity reporter. In addition, an increase in α -actinin increase could be seen because of apoptosis-induced degradation of the cytoskeleton in cardiomyocytes.

5.2 Setting up and optimizing a compound screening assay for GATA4-FOG2 interaction

The second experimental part of the project aimed at setting up a luciferase assay to screen for compounds that affect the protein-protein interaction between GATA4 and FOG2. This begun by finding a suitable ratio between the two transfection factors combined with the GATA4-dependent reporter plasmid NP-112. In the first experiments, the amount of pMT2-GATA4 was fixed to a solid 25 ng/well together with 100 ng/well of NP-112 and testing concentrations between 10 and 45 ng/well of pCS2-FOG2. There was not much variation between these groups, but control group with only pMT2-GATA4 gave a sevenfold signal compared to those wells transfected with both pMT2-GATA4 and pCS2-FOG2, suggesting the GATA4-inhibitory effect of FOG2 is indeed strong in this in vitro culture (Fig 27). In addition, the average signal from wells transfected with pMT2-GATA4 and pCS2-FOG2 was not higher than that from empty plasmid pMT2 control group.



Figure 27: Luciferase signals from different ratios of combinations of pMT2-GATA4 and pCS2-FOG2 in COS-1 cells. The numbers in each group stand for nanograms of the plasmid in question per well. These groups had 100 ng/well of luciferase reporter vector NP-112. The results are shown as mean luciferase signal values from one experiment normalized to the empty plasmid group.

Because of these results, in order to see a clear signal from the combination groups as well, the amounts of pMT2-GATA4 had to be increased. Obviously, the amount of pCS2-FOG2 had to be very small compared to pMT2-GATA4 but decreasing that amount from the previous trial would have been impossible to pipet. For the next experiments three groups of pMT2-GATA4 were added – 30 ng, 60 ng and 100 ng per well – to see if at some of these levels saturation point would be reached and would therefore be useless for screening. In the same experiment, all these three levels of pMT2-GATA4 were combined with a one tenth, one third or an equal amount of pCS2-FOG2. Additionally, 30 and 60 ng/well of pCS2-FOG2 were tested alone. Each group had 150 ng/well of NP-112. Luciferase signals were still significantly higher when pMT2-GATA4 was not disturbed with the inhibitory pCS2-FOG2 (Fig 28). Because 30 ng/well of pMT2-GATA4 resulted in a higher signal than 60 or 100 ng/well, it was safest to opt for the combinations with 30 ng/well, too, in order to avoid saturation of NP-112. The highest signal from 30 ng/well of GATA4 combined with pCS2-FOG2 was the group with 3 ng/well of the latter one. Therefore this ratio was for compound screening (Fig 28).



Figure 28: Luciferase signals from a variety of rational combinations of pMT2-GATA4, pCS2-FOG2 and empty pMT2 plasmids in COS-1 cells. The numbers in each group stand for nanograms of the plasmid in question per well. These groups had 150 ng/well of luciferase reporter vector NP-112. The results are shown as mean luciferase signal values from three independent experiments normalized to the empty plasmid group \pm standard error of the mean (SEM).

Test compounds 3i-1000, 3i-777, 3i-1027, 3i-1157 and 3i-1083 were chosen for this assay, and COS-1 cells were exposed to them for 24 hours at concentrations of 3 μ M and 10 μ M. The results shows again that pMT2-GATA4 alone produces by far the strongest signal (Fig 29A). The highest signal of test compounds resulted 10 μ M of 3i-777 but it was not remarkably higher than control group with 30 ng of pMT2-GATA4 + 3 ng of pCS2-FOG2 without compound exposure (Fig 29B). All the other compounds and concentrations reduced the signal. Most compounds yielded dose-dependent results; a higher signal with a higher concentration. However, the results were in opposite order for 3i-1027.



Figure 29: Luciferase signals from COS-1 cells transfected with pMT2-GATA4 and pCS2-FOG2 and exposed to protein-protein interaction affecting compounds. Capital G stands for pMT2-GATA4 and capital F for pCS2-FOG2. The number after letters stands for nanograms of the plasmid in question per well. (A) Luciferase signals from all test and control groups revealed a 100-fold higher signal from G30F0 compared to G30F3. (B) Luciferase signals from only the test groups and their non-exposed control group G30F3 showed the effects of the compounds. These groups had 150 ng/well of luciferase reporter vector NP-112. The results are shown as mean luciferase signal values from one experiment normalized to G30-F3 group.

6 DISCUSSION

Studies all over the world have identified cardiac-selective lncRNA sequences, and as lncRNAs broadly regulate genetic expression and thus the diverse functions of cell they carry a remarkable potential for medical treatments to be developed. In addition, they are highly tissue selective, which can be beneficial in applying them to therapeutic use. The aim of this study was first of all to identify if our three lncRNAs from our group's selection have an effect on hypertrophic responses in neonatal mouse cardiomyocyte *in vitro* cultures and to examine if they increase apoptosis.

Looking at the results from the hypertrophy assays, most differences are between ET-1 and DMEM-1% BSA. This project did not aim at studying the effects of ET-1 as they are already well established (Archer et al. 2017). ET-1 is a vasoconstrictive peptide, which increases blood pressure both independently and by stimulating RAS (Haque et al. 2013). Therefore the increase in α -actinin and F-actin intensities and fiber areas was predictable. Because hypertrophy degrades the organization of sarcomere units, it would be predictable that fiber alignment decreases with ET-1 exposure. In these results, however, ET-1 increased α -actinin and F-actin fiber alignment for the most part albeit the differences were only 1–8 % and not statistically significant. On the other hand, it is impossible to conclude the effect of ET-1 on F-actin fibers alignment in particular from these results as they were contradictory between different sets of experiments.

Overall, it is noteworthy to look into the variation between control groups from different sets of experiments. Basically, negative control and DMEM/F-12 groups were similar in all three experimental sets. The only ones differing were lncRNA J GapmeR experiments as they had a separate time point. LncRNAs C and F GapmeR experiments, on the other hand, should have had similar control groups. However, their results did not align in most cases, indicating that something else than ET-1 the GapmeRs only was also affecting the cardiomyocytes. Assuming that is the case, this factor would also have had an impact on ET-1 and GapmeR results. On the other hands, some experiments were only carried out twice, so carrying out more repetitions could possibly level out the control groups.

The GapmeRs had very little if any impact on the hypertrophic factors investigated, suggesting that silencing the lncRNAs of interest have little effect on hypertrophy. The chosen lncRNAs were selected based on findings by Pohjolainen et al. (unpublished), which indicated these lncRNAs were cardiomyocyte-selective and go through significant changes in their expression patterns in neonatal mouse cardiomyocytes during the first postnatal days. Based on the results of this project, their role in the cardiomyocytes may cover other duties than stress response and growth or contributing to them via other pathways. On the other hand, it is also possible that the GapmeRs were inefficient in silencing their target lncRNAs. In that case the lncRNAs may contribute to hypertrophy but the changes were not detected due to defective GapmeRs. Therefore, further studies

with more LNA GapmeRs can produce different results, and lncRNAs C, F and J are still worth investigating.

In this project, high content screening was used to detect α -actinin and F-actin. Despite their relevance in hypertrophy, no previous data shows these lncRNAs would regulate their expression in particular. Assuming the GapmeRs were functional, it could be that their target lncRNAs do not explicitly affect α -actinin and F-actin, which in these experiments were biomarkers for phenotypic change. Another approach to the subject could be analyzing how the lncRNAs effect cardiac genes on chromatin level. Han et al. (2014), for example, took this approach with their newly discovered cardiac lncRNA. First, they discovered that their newly found cluster of lncRNAs interacts the gene locus *Myh7* and only after that started analyzing the proteins they affect. On the other hand, as α -actinin and F-actin were biomarkers for phenotypic change instead of proteins we aimed at quantifying, more parameters could have been measured from their intensities. In addition to only fiber area, the area of the cardiomyocytes could have been measured, for example.

Understanding how lncRNAs affect hypertrophic factors and the expression of hypertrophic genes is a key point in investigating their functions. Another way to detect if the lncRNAs in question have to do with hypertrophy is to see if their natural expression is affected by hypertrophic stimuli – such as ET-1 or ATII. ET-1 and ATII are known to induce hypertrophic proteins, such as ANP and BNP, and the expression of hypertrophic genes (Hu et al. 1988; Magga et al. 1998) and would therefore likely be reliable markers in lncRNA research too.

What was alarming, LNA GapmeR negative control A, which should not cause any kind of effect, was often the most active one when compared to DMEM/F-12 medium controls although the differences were not statistically significant. The high importance of a functional negative control was thoroughly explained by Lipsitch et al. (2010), who described the fundamental role of negative controls: "The essential purpose of a negative control is to reproduce a condition that cannot involve the hypothesized causal mechanism but is very likely to involve the same sources of bias that may have been present in the original association". In this case, negative control A must be re-evaluated with other assays and studied for possible gene-regulatory effects. If the positive result from negative control was only present in one set of experiments, the reason behind would likely be an error in pipetting or cell conditions among other factors, but the same phenomenon appears in all lncRNA GapmeR assays and even in both hypertrophy and apoptosis assays. On the other hand, like discussed previously in the differences between similar control groups, if one experiments with GapmeRs against one lncRNA showed different levels between negative control A and DMEM/F-12, the same difference was likely not present in experiments with GapmeRs against another one – comparing lncRNA F and J experiments on the same parameter, for example. In that case, repeating the experiments could level out the differences.

Results from the apoptosis assays imply the used GapmeRs definitely do not increase apoptosis in cardiomyocytes. That suggests further that silencing the lncRNAs of interest does not increase it either. The positive control for apoptosis assays, DOX, also works as supposed, increasing the reliability of the results. DAPI intensities were significantly lower in DOX exposed cardiomyocytes, whereas caspase-3/7 was highly active in those wells. In addition to caspase-3/7, there was also a higher α -actinin intensity in the nuclei of DOX exposed cardiomyocytes. This is likely not because of a sudden higher expression of α -actinin, but accumulation of it around the nucleus as the cytoskeleton of the cardiomyocyte collapses and they become rounded (Kang et al. 2000). The GapmeRs were also studied in DOX-induced apoptosis, in which they appear not to have inhibitory but neither protective effects.

Working with neonatal mammal cardiomyocytes includes plenty of risks that can alter the results, too. From detaching the hearts to plating the cardiomyocytes there are various steps during which wrong conditions could kill a part of them. Cardiomyocytes are highly sensitive to changes in the temperature or using too much force during pipetting, among others. Several well plates had to be discarded during the project as the cardiomyocytes looked visibly ill under the microscope. This had to do with improper gelatin coating of well plates, wrong temperatures during the isolation process and uneven cell densities on. Despite attempting to only choose viable- and healthy-looking cardiomyocytes for high content screening, there is more than what meets the eye: it is impossible to detect all the tiny effects changes in the environment may have caused to the cells.

The second part of this project was to set up a compound screening assay for GATA4-FOG2 interaction in COS-1 cells utilizing a GATA4-dependent luciferase reporter plasmid NP-112. This required optimizing the transfection ratio between GATA4- and FOG2-transcripting plasmids in order to see the effect of the interaction yet get a clear luciferase signal to be able to use the reporter assay for compound screening. Unlike cardiomyocytes, COS-1 are quick to attach and divide rapidly. The search for the optimal ratio started with using a fixed 25 ng/well of pMT2-GATA4 plasmid and from 10 to 45 ng/well of pCS2-FOG2. It was immediately clear that FOG2 strongly inhibits GATA4 in COS-1 cells as the luciferase signal dropped to approximately one seventh when even the smallest amount of FOG2 was added. This was neither a surprise nor really presupposed, as previous studies have found that FOG2 can both inhibit and enhance the effects of GATA4 (Lu et al. 1999; Svensson et al. 1999). Next, pMT2-GATA4 was upscaled, pCS2-FOG2 was tested in ratios between 1:10 to 1:1 in relation pMT2-GATA4, and NP-112 was increased to 150 ng/well. From these results a suitable option for compound screening was found. Compound screening was carried out with a NP-112:pMT2-GATA4 ratio of 5:1 (150 and 30 ng/well) and pMT2-GATA4-pCS2-FOG2 ratio of 10:1 (30 ng and 3 ng) (Fig 30).

| Best response in the first experiments | | |
|---|--|--------------|
| | | |
| Reporter:GATA4 | | GATA4:FOG2 |
| 100 ng : 25 ng | | 25 ng : 1 ng |
| 4:1 | | 2.5:1 |
| Best response in the second experiments | | |
| Reporter:GATA4 | | GATA4:FOG2 |
| 150 ng : 30 ng | | 30 ng : 3 ng |
| 5:1 | | 10:1 |
| Compound screening | | |

Figure 30: Optimizing the ratios of luciferase reporter and transcription factor plasmids. The first results indicated transfecting reporter and GATA4 plasmids 4:1 was a suitable combination for a clear luciferase signal. Different ratios of FOG2-plasmid in relation to GATA4 were tested in the second experiments. The best response was achieved with reporter:GATA4 ratio 5:1 and GATA4:FOG ratio 10:1.
In previous studies by our group 3i-1000 has been shown to inhibit and 3i-777 to enhance the interaction of GATA4 with its other known cofactor, NKX2-5 (Välimäki et al. 2017). Later on, as more compounds were developed, a new analog 3i-1157 was found to be the most potent synergy inhibitor when using a very similar luciferase assay as in this project (Jumppanen et al. 2019). Instead, 3i-1183 did not affect GATA4-NKX2-5 interaction. In addition to synergy inhibition, 3i-777 and 3i-1157 significantly decreased the expression of BNP in cardiomyocytes. In the GATA4-FOG2 compound screening in this project, 10 μ M 3i-777 was only compound inhibiting GATA4-FOG2 interaction, although the difference was rather marginal. Apart from that compound and concentration, all other test groups moderately enhanced the interaction or had no effect at all. However, these results were from a single experiment only. Repetitions need to be carried out before drawing any conclusion on how the compounds affect GATA4-FOG2 interaction.

Despite COS-1 cells being easier to handle than cardiomyocytes, the transfection procedure in particular was prone to errors. It required pipetting very small amounts (<0.5 µl), which is demanding to do precisely. This could explain why there was a relatively large range of variation in these experiments. One way to tackle this problem would be upscaling the amount of plasmids even more, but in this case the empty plasmid pMT2 would need to be upscaled, too, and the total amount of DNA would become quite high. Despite not coding for any protein, the overall amount of empty pMT2 can result in a small luciferase signal as well. If the total amount of DNA per well continuously grew, this fault signal, would grow in the same ratio and interfere with the results. Another reason why upscaling cannot be endlessly used is saturation: at some point, pMT2-GATA4 will yield in such high amounts of GATA4 that the binding sites at NP-112 luciferase become saturated and so the increased GATA4 no longer increases the signal.

Previous experiments with a luciferase reporter and GATA4-FOG2 interaction have been carried out in studying how the transcription factor complex affects certain genes (e.g. Lu et al. 1999, Jia and Takimoto 2003). These studies have also shown how much the results can vary between cell types and promoters, making it difficult to generalize any obtained results. Targeting GATA4-FOG2 interaction has plenty of potential as it plays an important role in the development of cardiomyocytes and other cells types as well.

However, organs are formed of more than one cell type, and based on the results by Lu et al. (1999) or Jia and Takimoto (2003), for instance, a beneficial effect in one cell type could potentially be harmful in the neighboring one. The results obtained from this study show that in COS-1 cells FOG2 inhibits GATA4 from binding to the rBNP promoter in NP-112 luciferase reporter, but this could be very different in cardiomyocytes and different promoter regions, for example. Hypothesizing 3i-1000, for instance, was shown to be both an efficient inhibitor of GATA4-NKX2-5 interaction and an enhancer of GATA4-FOG2 interaction, it could become a groundbreaking drug in cardiac regeneration: LVH could be decreased and cardiomyocyte proliferation increased. Nevertheless, if the enhancement of GATA4-FOG2 was strong in other cardiac cells, such as endothelial cells and fibroblasts, the final outcome could be less ideal. Therefore, the next step should be optimizing a similar assay in cardiomyocytes and see what FOG2 and the compounds do to GATA4 in them.

7 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

LVH is a noteworthy heart condition both economically and considering the quality of life of the patients. It increases the risk of various other cardiovascular diseases, such as MI or cardiac failure. LVH is caused by pathologically growing cardiomyocytes in the left ventricular wall, which results in thickening of the wall. At the same time, fibrosis increases. Scar tissue lacks the ability to contract, and the malign growth of the cardiomyocytes breaks the organization of their sarcomere structures, resulting in decreased efficacy. Elevated blood pressure is the most common factor behind LVH, and the current treatment is focused on antihypertensive medication. They do not, however, repair the damage. If the condition has already developed into cardiac failure, there prognosis is particularly weak. Current medication options only alleviate symptoms, but the patients often depend on them for the rest of their lives.

The main reason why these types of damages cannot be repaired is that cardiomyocytes have a nearly nonexistent regeneration capability. Science has attempted to overcome this obstacle with a variety of strategies, but so far none of them have made it to actually benefitting patients. The aim of this project was for one thing to determine if a group of cardiac-selective lncRNAs previously discovered by our group could affect the way neonatal mouse cardiomyocytes responded to ET-1-induced stress, particularly focusing on their α -actinin and F-actin filaments. The second goal was to set up and optimize a compound screening assay for GATA4-FOG2 interaction.

These results showed that at least in this set-up, the lncRNA GapmeRs did not affect the hypertrophic response to stress in neonatal cardiomyocytes. This could either mean that the lncRNAs of interest are not involved in cardiomyocyte hypertrophy, or the silencing with the GapmeRs was inefficient. In addition, these experiments used only two structural proteins as biomarkers for phenotypic changes in hypertrophy. Further studies and different experimental designs could reveal results that were not seen here. The negative control A GapmeR must also be re-evaluated and studied more closely, as in certain cases it appeared to induce the strongest positive result despite not statistically significant.

In the GATA4-FOG2 interaction experiments, the hardship of transfecting these two turned out to be the extremely strong GATA4-inhibitory effect of FOG2. According to the results, transfection ratios NP-112:pMT2-GATA4 5:1 and pMT2-GATA4:pCS2-FOG2 10:1 produce a signal high enough to see if a test compound affects it. Based on the compound screen conducted in this project the compounds have tendency to enhance GATA4-FOG2 interaction but considering that only a single experiment was carried out, further research is needed to draw conclusions.

REFERENCES

Aerts S: Computational Strategies for the Genome-Wide Identification of cis-Regulatory Elements and Transcriptional Targets. In book: Current Topics in Developmental Biology, p. 121–145, volume 98. Edit. Plaza S, Payre F 2012

Ahuja P, Sdek P, MacLellan WR: Cardiac myocyte cell cycle control in development, disease, and regeneration. Physiol Rev 87: 521–544, 2007

Akazawa H, Komuro I: Roles of cardiac transcription factors in cardiac hypertrophy. Circ Res 92: 1079–1088, 2003

Akinboboye OO, Chou R-L, Bergmann SR: Myocardial blood flow and efficiency in concentric and eccentric left ventricular hypertrophy. Am J Hypertens 17: 433–438, 2004

Alderman MH, Cohen H, Madhavan S: Dietary sodium intake and mortality: the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES I). Lancet 351: 781–785, 1998 Amaral PP and Mattick JS: Noncoding RNA in development. Mamm Genome 19: 454–492, 2008

Anttonen M, Ketola I, Parviainen H, Pusa A-K, Heikinheimo M: FOG-2 and GATA-4 Are Coexpressed in the Mouse Ovary and Can Modulate Müllerian-Inhibiting Substance Expression. Biol Reprod 68: 1333–1340, 2003

Anversa P, Olivetti G, Melissari M, Loud AV: Stereological measurement of cellular and subcellular hypertrophy and hyperplasia in the papillary muscle of adult rat. J Mol Cell Cardiol 12: 781–795, 1980

Appel LJ, Moore TJ, Obarzanek E, Vollmer WM, Svetkey LP, Sacks FM, Bray GA, Vogt TM, Cutler JA, Windhauser MM, Lin PH, Karanja N: A clinical trial of the effects of dietary patterns on blood pressure. DASH Collaborative Research Group. N Engl J Med 336: 1117–1124, 1997

Arceci RJ, King AA, Simon MC, Orkin SH, Wilson DB: Mouse GATA-4: a retinoic acidinducible GATA-binding transcription factor expressed in endodermally derived tissues and heart. Mol Cell Biol 13: 2235–2246, 1993

Arceci RJ, King AAJ, Simon MC, Orkin SH, Wilson DB: Mouse GATA-4: A Retinoic Acid-Inducible GATA-Binding Transcription Factor Expressed in Endodermally Derived Tissues and Heart. Molecular and Cellular Biology 13: 2235–2246, 1993 Baira E, Greshock J, Coukos G, Zhang L: Ultraconserved elements: genomics, function and disease. RNA Biol 5: 132–134, 2008

Baker KM, Chernin MI, Wixson SK, Aceto JF: Renin-angiotensin system involvement in pressure-overload cardiac hypertrophy in rats. Am J Physiol 259: 324–332, 1990

Baker KM, Booz GW, Dostal DE: Cardiac actions of angiotensin II: Role of an intracardiac renin-angiotensin system. Annu Rev Physiol 54: 227–241, 1992

Banerjee I, Fuseler JW, Price RL, Borg TK, Baudino TA: Determination of cell types and numbers during cardiac development in the neonatal and adult rat and mouse. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 293:H1883–H1891, 2007

Bao DQ, Mori TA, Burke V, Puddey IB, Beilin LJ: Effects of dietary fish and weight reduction on ambulatory blood pressure in overweight hypertensives. Hypertension 32: 710–717, 1998

Bellin M, Marchetto MC, Gage FH, Mummery CL: Induced pluripotent stem cells: the new patient? Nature Rev Mol Cell Biol 13: 713–726, 2012 Benjamin EJ and Levy D: Why is left ventricular hypertrophy so predictive of morbidity and mortality? Am J Med Sci 317:168–175, 1999

Bergmann O and Jovinge S: Cardiac regeneration in vivo: Mending the heart from within? Stem Cell Res 13: 523–531, 2014

Bergmann O, Bhardwaj RD, Bernard S, Zdunek S, Barnabé-Heider F, Walsh S, Zupicich J, Alkass K, Buchholz BA, Druid H, Jovinge S, Frisén J: Evidence for Cardiomyocyte Renewal in Humans. Science 324: 98–102, 2009

Bergmann O, Zdunek S, Felker A, Salehpour M, Alkass K, Bernard S, Sjoström SL, Szewczykowska M, Jackowska T, dos Remedios C, Malm T, Andra M, Jashari R, Nyengaard JR, Possnert G, Jovinge S, Henrik Druid H, Frisén J: Dynamics of Cell Generation and Turnover in the Human Heart. Cell 161: 1566–1575, 2015

Bersell K, Arab S, Haring B, Kuhn B: Neuregulin1/ErbB4 signaling induces cardiomyocyte proliferation and repair of heart injury. Cell 138: 257–270, 2009

Bisping E, Ikeda S, Won Kong S, Tarnavski O, Bodyak N, McMullen JR, Rajagopal S, Son JK, Ma Q, Springer Z, Kang PM, Izumo S, Pu WT: Gata4 is required for maintenance of postnatal cardiac function and protection from pressure overload-induced heart failure. Proc Nat Acad Sci USA 103: 14471–14476, 2006

Brown RD, Ambler SK, Mitchell MD, Long CS: The cardiac fibroblast: therapeutic target in myocardial remodeling and failure. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 45: 657 – 687, 2005

Buckingham M, Meilhac S, Zaffran S: Building the mammalian heart from two sources of myocardial cells. Nature Rev Genet 6: 826–835, 2005

Campbell SE, Korecky B, Rakusan K: Remodeling of myocyte dimensions in hypertrophic and atrophic rat hearts. Circ Res 68: 984–996, 1991

Cantor AB and Orkin SH: Coregulation of GATA factors by the Friend of GATA (FOG) family of multitype zinc finger proteins. Semin Cell Dev Biol 16: 117–128, 2005

Carninci P, Kasukawa T, Katayama S, Gough J, Frith MC, Maeda N, Oyama R, Ravasi T, Lenhard B, Wells C, Kodzius R, Shimokawa K, Bajic VB, Brenner SE, Batalov S, Forrest AR, Zavolan M, Davis MJ, Wilming LG, Aidinis V, Allen JE, Ambesi-Impiombato A, Apweiler R, Aturaliya RN, Bailey TL, Bansal M, Baxter L, Beisel KW, Bersano T, Bono H, Chalk AM, Chiu KP, Choudhary V, Christoffels A, Clutterbuck DR, Crowe ML, Dalla E, Dalrymple BP, de Bono B, Della Gatta G, di Bernardo D, Down T, Engstrom P, Fagiolini M, Faulkner G, Fletcher CF, Fukushima T, Furuno M, Futaki S, Gariboldi M, Georgii-Hemming P, Gingeras TR, Gojobori T, Green RE, Gustincich S, Harbers M, Hayashi Y, Hensch TK, Hirokawa N, Hill D, Huminiecki L, Iacono M, Ikeo K, Iwama A, Ishikawa T, Jakt M, Kanapin A, Katoh M, Kawasawa Y, Kelso J, Kitamura H, Kitano H, Kollias G, Krishnan SP, Kruger A, Kummerfeld SK, Kurochkin IV, Lareau LF, Lazarevic D, Lipovich L, Liu J, Liuni S, McWilliam S, Madan Babu M, Madera M, Marchionni L, Matsuda H, Matsuzawa S, Miki H, Mignone F, Miyake S, Morris K, Mottagui-Tabar S, Mulder N, Nakano N, Nakauchi H, Ng P, Nilsson R, Nishiguchi S, Nishikawa S, Nori F, Ohara O, Okazaki Y, Orlando V, Pang KC, Pavan WJ, Pavesi G, Pesole G, Petrovsky N, Piazza S, Reed J, Reid JF, Ring BZ, Ringwald M, Rost B, Ruan Y, Salzberg SL, Sandelin A, Schneider C, Schönbach C, Sekiguchi K, Semple CA, Seno S, Sessa L, Sheng Y, Shibata Y, Shimada H, Shimada K, Silva D, Sinclair B, Sperling S, Stupka E, Sugiura K, Sultana R, Takenaka Y, Taki K, Tammoja K, Tan SL, Tang S, Taylor MS, Tegner J, Teichmann SA, Ueda HR, van Nimwegen E, Verardo R, Wei CL, Yagi K, Yamanishi H, Zabarovsky E, Zhu S, Zimmer A, Hide W, Bult C, Grimmond SM, Teasdale RD, Liu ET, Brusic V, Quackenbush J, Wahlestedt C, Mattick JS, Hume DA, Kai C, Sasaki D, Tomaru Y, Fukuda S, Kanamori-Katayama M, Suzuki M, Aoki J, Arakawa T, Iida J, Imamura K, Itoh M, Kato T, Kawaji H, Kawagashira N, Kawashima T, Kojima M, Kondo S, Konno H, Nakano K, Ninomiya N, Nishio T, Okada M, Plessy C, Shibata K, Shiraki T, Suzuki S, Tagami M, Waki K, Watahiki A, Okamura-Oho Y, Suzuki H, Kawai J, Hayashizaki Y; FANTOM Consortium; RIKEN Genome Exploration Research Group and Genome Science Group (Genome Network Project Core Group): The transcriptional landscape of the mammalian genome. Science 309: 1559-1563, 2005

Charron F and Nemer M: GATA transcription factors and cardiac development. Cell Dev Biol 10: 85–91, 1999

Chaudhry HW, Dashoush NH, Tang H, Zhang L, Wang X, Wu EX, Wolgemuth DJ: Cyclin A2 mediates cardiomyocyte mitosis in the postmitotic myocardium. J Biol Chem 279: 35858–35866, 2004

Chen CY and Schwartz RJ: Identification of novel DNA binding targets and regulatory domains of a murine tinman homeodomain factor, nkx-2.5. J Biol Chem 270: 15628–15633, 1995

Chen HH, Almontashiri NA, Antoine D, Stewart AF: Functional genomics of the 9p21.3 locus for atherosclerosis: clarity or confusion? Curr Cardiol Rep 16: 502, 2014

Chen JX, Krane M, Deutsch MA, Wang L, Rav-Acha M, Gregoire S, Engels MC, Rajarajan K, Karra R, Abel ED, Wu JC, Milan D, Wu SM: Inefficient reprogramming of fibroblasts into cardiomyocytes using Gata4, Mef2c, and Tbx5. Circ Res 111: 50–55, 2012

Chien KR, Knowlton KU, Zhu H, Chien A: Regulation of cardiac gene expression during myocardial growth and hypertrophy: molecular studies of an adaptive physiologic response. FASEB J 1991 5: 3037–3046, 1991

Chung C, Bien H, Sobie EA, Dasari V, McKinnon D, Rosati B, Entcheva E: Hypertrophic phenotype in cardiac cell assemblies solely by structural cues and ensuing self-organization. FASEB J 25: 851–862, 2011

Clemson CM, Hutchinson JN, Sara SA, Ensminger AW, Fox AH, Chess A, Lawrence JB: An architectural role for a nuclear noncoding RNA: NEAT1 RNA is essential for the structure of paraspeckles. Molecular Cell 33: 717–726, 2009

Coppini R, Ferrantini C, Mugelli A, Poggesi C, Cerbai E: Altered Ca²⁺ and Na⁺ Homeostasis in Human Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy: Implications for Arrhythmogenesis. Front Physiol 9: 1391, 2010

Cornelissen VA and Smart NA: Exercise training for blood pressure: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Heart Assoc 2: e004473, 2013

Crick FH, Barnett L, Brenner S, Watts-Tobin RJ: General nature of the genetic code for proteins. Nature 192: 1227–1232, 1961

Crispino JD, Lodish MB, Thurberg BL, Litovsky SH, Collins T, Molkentin JD, Orkin SH: Proper coronary vascular development and heart morphogenesis depend on interaction of GATA-4 with FOG cofactors. Genes Dev 15: 839–844, 2001

Dahlöf B, Devereux R, de Faire U, Fyhrquist F, Hedner T, Ibsen H, Julius S, Kjeldsen S, Kristianson K, Lederballe-Pedersen O, H. Lindholm LH, Nieminen MS, Omvik P, Oparil S: The Losartan Intervention For Endpoint Reduction (LIFE) in Hypertension Study: Rationale, Design, and Methods. Am J Hypertens 705–713, 1997

Dahlöf B, Devereux RB, Kjeldsen SE, Julius S, Beevers G, De Faire U, Fyhrquist F, Ibsen H, Kristiansson K, Lederballe-Pedersen O, Lindholm LH, Nieminen MS, Omvik P, Oparil S, Wedel H: Cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in the Losartan Intervention For Endpoint reduction in hypertension study (LIFE): A randomised trial against atenolol. Lancet 359: 995–1003, 2002

Dahlöf B, Gosse P, Guéret P Dubourg O, de Simone G, Schmieder R, Karpov Y, García-Puig J, Matos L, De Leeuw PW, Degaute JP, Magometschnigg D; PICXEL Investigators: Perindopril/indapamide combination more effective than enalapril in reducing blood pressure and left ventricular mass: the PICXEL study. J Hypertens 23: 2063–2070, 2005

de Simone G, Devereux RB, Roman MJ, Alderman MH, Laragh JH: Relation of obesity and gender to left ventricular hypertrophy in normotensive and hypertensive adults. Hypertension 23: 600–606, 1994

de Simone G, Gottdiener JS, Chinali M, Maurer MS: Left ventricular mass predicts heart failure not related to previous myocardial infarction: the cardiovascular health study. Eur Heart J 29: 741–747, 2008

Derrien T, Johnson R, Bussotti G, Tanzer A, Djebali S, Tilgner H, Guigó R: The GENCODE v7 catalog of human long noncoding RNAs: Analysis of their gene structure, evolution, and expression. Gen Res 22: 1775–1789, 2012

Devereux RB, Alonso DR, Lutas EM, Gottlieb GJ, Campo E, Sachs I, Reichek N: Echocardiographic assessment of left ventricular hypertrophy: Comparison to necropsy findings. Am J Cardiol 57: 450–458, 1986

Devereux RB, Pickering TG, Alderman MH, Chien S, Borer JS, Laragh JH: Left ventricular hypertrophy in hypertension. Prevalence and relationship to pathophysiologic variables. Hypertension 9: 53–60, 1987

Devereux RB, Dahlöf B, Gerdts E, Boman K, Nieminen MS, Papademetriou V, Rokkedal J, Harris KE, Edelman JM, Wachtell K: Regression of hypertensive left ventricular hypertrophy by losartan compared with atenolol: the Losartan Intervention for Endpoint Reduction in Hypertension (LIFE) trial. Circulation 110: 1456–1462, 2004

Dinger ME, Amaral PP, Mercer TR, Pang KC, Bruce SJ, Gardiner BB, Askarian-Amiri ME, Ru K, Soldà G, Simons C, Sunkin SM, Crowe ML, Grimmond SM, Perkins AC, Mattick JS: Long noncoding RNAs in mouse embryonic stem cell pluripotency and differentiation. Genome Res 18: 1433–1445, 2008

Dobaczewski M, Gonzalez-Quesada C, Frangogiannis NG: The extracellular matrix as a modulator of the inflammatory and reparative response following myocardial infarction. J Mol Cell Cardiol 48: 504–511, 2010

Efe JA, Hilcove S, Kim J, Zhou H, Ouyang K, Wang G, Chen J, Ding S: Conversion of mouse fibroblasts into cardiomyocytes using a direct reprogramming strategy. Nature Cell Biol 13: 215–222, 2011

El-Hachem N, Nemer G: Identification of New GATA4-Small Molecule Inhibitors by Structure-Based Virtual Screening. Bioorg Med Chem 19: 1734–1742, 2011 Engel FB, Schebesta M, Duong MT, Lu G, Ren S, Madwed JB, Jiang H, Wang Y, Keating MT: p38 MAP kinase inhibition enables proliferation of adult mammalian cardiomyocytes. Genes Dev 19: 1175–1187, 2005

Engel FB, Hsieh PC, Lee RT, Keating MT: FGF1/p38 MAP kinase inhibitor therapy induces cardiomyocyte mitosis, reduces scarring, and rescues function after myocardial infarction. Proc Natl Acad Sc. USA 103: 15546–15551, 2006

Erwteman TM, Nagelkerke N, Lubsen J, Koster M, Dunning AJ: Beta blockade, diuretics, and salt restriction for the management of mild hypertension: a randomised double blind trial. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 289: 406–409, 1984

Estella C, Voutev R, Richard S.Mann RS: Chapter seven - A Dynamic Network of Morphogens and Transcription Factors Patterns the Fly Leg. Biology 98: 173–198, 2012

Fagard RH, Celis H, Thijs L, Wouters S: Regression of left ventricular mass by antihypertensive treatment: a meta-analysis of randomized comparative studies. Hypertension 54: 1084–1091, 2009

Fagerberg B, Andersson OK, Isaksson B, Björntorp P: Blood pressure control during weight reduction in obese hypertensive men: separate effects of sodium and energy restriction. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 288: 11–14, 1984

Fan C, Zhang E, Joshi J, Yang J, Zhang J, Zhu W: Utilization of Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells for Cardiac Repair. Front Cell Dev Biol 8: 36, 2020 Fisher SA, Doree C, Mathur A, Taggart DP, Martin-Rendon E: Stem cell therapy for chronic ischaemic heart disease and congestive heart failure. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 12: CD007888, 2016

Fraccarollo D, Galuppo P, Bauersachs J: Novel therapeutic approaches to post-infarction remodeling. Cardiovascular Research 94: 293–303, 2012

Frohlich ED, Apstein C, Chobanian AV, Devereux RB, Dustan HP, Dzau V, Fauad-Tarazi F, Horan MJ, Marcus M, Massie B, Pfeffer MA, Ré RN, Roccella EJ, Savage D, Shub D, C: The heart in hypertension. N Engl J Med 327: 998–1008, 1992

Ganau A, Devereux RB, Roman MJ de Simone G, Pickering TG, Saba PS, Vargiu P, Simongini I, Laragh JH: Patterns of left ventricular hypertrophy and geometric remodeling in essential hypertension. J Am Coll Cardiol 19: 1550-1558, 1992

Gata4 (online). The Human Protein Atlas. The Human Protein Atlas Project. Sweden, 2015 (referred on 27.1.2020). Available online: <u>www.proteinatlas.org</u>

Ghali JK, Liao Y, Cooper RS: Influence of left ventricular geometric patterns on prognosis in patients with or without coronary artery disease. J Am Coll Cardiol 31: 1635–1640, 1998

Gill JS, Shipley MJ, Tsementzis SA, Hornby RS, Gill SK, Hitchcock ER, Beevers DG: Alcohol consumption--a risk factor for hemorrhagic and non-hemorrhagic stroke. Am J Med 90: 489–497, 1991

Gottdiener JS, Reda DJ, Massie BM, Materson BJ, Williams DW, Anderson RJ: Effect of single-drug therapy on reduction of left ventricular mass in mild to moderate hypertension: comparison of six antihypertensive agents. The Department of Veterans Affairs Cooperative Study Group on Antihypertensive Agents. Circulation 95: 2007–2014, 1997

Grépin C, Dagnino L, Robitaille L, Haberstroth L, Antakly T, Nemer M: A Hormone-Encoding Gene Identifies a Pathway for Cardiac but Not Skeletal Muscle Gene Transcription. Mol Cell Biol 14: 3115–3129, 1994 Grossman W, Jones D, McLaurin LP: Wall stress and patterns of hypertrophy in the human left ventricle. J Clin Invest 56: 56–64, 1975

Grote P, Wittler L, Hendrix D, Koch F, Währisch S, Beisaw A, Macura K, Bläss G, Kellis M, Werber M, Herrmann BG: The Tissue-Specific lncRNA Fendrr Is an Essential Regulator of Heart and Body Wall Development in the Mouse. Dev Cell 24: 206–214, 2013

Guyton AC and Hall JE: UNIT III The Heart. In book: Textbook of medical physiology. p. 101–157, 11th edition. Pub. Elsevier Inc, Philadelphia 2006

Han P, Li W, Lin C-H, Yang L, Shang C, Nurnberg ST, Jin KK, Xu W, Lin C-Y, Lin C-J, Xiong Y, Chien H-C, Zhou B, Ashley E, Bernstein D, Chen P-S, Chen H-SV, Quertermous T, Chang C-P: A long noncoding RNA protects the heart from pathological hypertrophy. Nature 514: 102–106, 2014

Haque S, Welch H, Loizidou M: Chapter 70 - Endothelin-1. In book: Handbook of Biologically Active Peptides. p. 512–518, 2nd edition. Edit. Kastin AJ 2013

Hasegawa K, Lee SJ, Jobe SM, Markham BE, Kitsis RN: cis-Acting sequences that mediate induction of beta-myosin heavy chain gene expression during left ventricular hypertrophy due to aortic constriction. Circulation 96: 3943–3953, 1997 Haubner BJ, Adamowicz-Brice M, Khadayate S, Tiefenthaler V, Metzler B, Aitman T, Penninger JM: Complete cardiac regeneration in a mouse model of myocardial infarction.

Aging (Albany NY) 4: 966–977, 2012

Haubner BJ, Schneider J, Schweigmann U, Schuetz T, Dichtl W, Velik-Salchner C, Stein J-I, Penninger JM: Functional Recovery of a Human Neonatal Heart After Severe Myocardial Infarction. Circulation Research 118: 216–221, 2016

He J, Ogden LG, Vupputuri S, Bazzano LA, Loria C, Whelton PK: Dietary sodium intake and subsequent risk of cardiovascular disease in overweight adults. JAMA 282: 2027–2034, 1999

He FJ, MacGregor GA: Effect of longer-term modest salt reduction on blood pressure. Cochrane Database Syst Rev: CD004937, 2004

Helgadottir A, Thorleifsson G, Manolescu A, Gretarsdottir S, Blondal T, Jonasdottir A, Jonasdottir A, Sigurdsson A, Baker A, Palsson A, Masson G, Gudbjartsson DF, Magnusson KP, Andersen K, Levey AI, Backman VM, Matthiasdottir S, Jonsdottir T, Palsson S, Einarsdottir H, Gunnarsdottir S, Gylfason A, Vaccarino V, Hooper WC, Reilly MP, Granger CB, Austin H, Rader DJ, Shah SH, Quyyumi AA, Gulcher JR, Thorgeirsson G, Thorsteinsdottir U, Kong A, Stefansson K: A common variant on chromosome 9p21 affects the risk of myocardial infarction. Science 316:1491–1493, 2007

Helldán A, Raulio S, Kosola M, Tapanainen H, Ovaskainen M-L, Virtanen S: Finravinto 2012 -tutkimus. The National FINDIET 2012 Survey. THL Raportti 16/2013. Available online: <u>http://urn.fi.libproxy.helsinki.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-245-951</u>

Herzig TC, Jobe SM, Aoki H, Molkentin JD, Cowley AW Jr, Izumo S, Markham BE: Angiotensin II type1a receptor gene expression in the heart: AP-1 and GATA-4 participate in the response to pressure overload. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94: 7543–7548, 1997

Horb ME and Thomsen GH: Tbx5 Is Essential for Heart Development. Development 126: 1739–1751, 1999

Horvath K, Jeitler K, Siering U, Stich AK, Skipka G, Gratzer TW, Siebenhofer A: Longterm effects of weight-reducing interventions in hypertensive patients: systematic review and meta-analysis. Arch Intern Med 168: 571–580, 2008

Houlihan CA, Allen TJ, Baxter AL, Panangiotopoulos S, Casley DJ, Cooper ME, Jerums G: A low-sodium diet potentiates the effects of losartan in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 25: 663–671, 2002

Hu JR, Berninger UG, Lang RE. Endothelin stimulates atrial natriuretic peptide (ANP) release from rat atria. Eur J Pharmacol 1988;158:177–178, 1988.

Hubert HB, Feinleib M, McNamara PM, Castelli WP: Obesity as an independent risk factor for cardiovascular disease: A 26-year follow-up of participants in the Framingham Heart Study. Circulation 67: 968–977, 1983

Hung T, Wang Y, Lin MF, Koegel AK, Kotake Y, Grant GD, Horlings HM, Shah N, Umbricht C, Wang P, Wang Y, Kong B, Langerød A, Børresen-Dale AL, Kim SK, van de Vijver M, Sukumar S, Whitfield ML, Kellis M, Xiong Y, Wong DJ, Chang HY: Extensive and coordinated transcription of noncoding RNAs within cell-cycle promoters. Nat Genet 43: 621–629, 2011

Hunter JJ and Chien KR: Signaling pathways for cardiac hypertrophy and failure, N Engl J Med 341: 1276–1283, 1999

Huxley A: Muscle structure and theories of contraction. Prog Biophys Biophys Chem 7: 255–318, 1957

Hwang PM and Sykes BD: Targeting the sarcomere to correct muscle function. Nat Rev Drug Discov 14: 313–328, 2015

Ieda M, Fu JD, Delgado-Olguin P, Vedantham V, Hayashi Y, Bruneau BG, Srivastava D: Direct reprogramming of fibroblasts into functional cardiomyocytes by defined factors. Cell 142: 375–386, 2010

Ishii N, Ozaki K, Sato H, Mizuno H, Saito S, Takahashi A, Miyamoto Y, Ikegawa S, Kamatani N, Hori M, Saito S, Nakamura Y, Tanaka T: Identification of a novel non-

coding RNA, MIAT, that confers risk of myocardial infarction. J Hum Genet 51: 1087–1099, 2006

Iwaki K, Sukhatmen VP, Shubeita HE, Chien KR: α - and β -adrenergic stimulation induces distinct patterns of immediate early gene expression in neonatal rat myocardial cells. J Biol Chem 265: 13809–13817, 1990

Izumo S, Lompré AM, Matsuoka R, Koren G, Schwartz K, Nadal-Ginard B, Mahdavi V: Myosin heavy chain messenger RNA and protein isoform transitions during cardiac hypertrophy. Interaction between hemodynamic and thyroid hormone-induced signals. J Clin Invest 79: 970–977, 1987

Izumo, S, Nadal-Ginard, B, Mahdavi V: Protooncogene induction and reprogramming of cardiac gene expression produced by pressure overload. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 85: 339–343, 1988

Jayawardena TM, Egemnazarov B, Finch EA, Zhang L, Payne JA, Pandya K, Zhang Z, Rosenberg P, Mirotsou M, Dzau VJ: MicroRNA-mediated in vitro and in vivo direct reprogramming of cardiac fibroblasts to cardiomyocytes. Circ Res 110: 1465–1473, 2012

Jia Y and Takimoto K: GATA and FOG2 transcription factors differentially regulate the promoter for Kv4.2 K+ channel gene in cardiac myocytes and PC12 cells. Cardiovasc Res 60: 278–287, 2003

Jula AM and Karanko HM: Effects on left ventricular hypertrophy of long-term nonpharmacological treatment with sodium restriction in mild-to-moderate essential hypertension. Circulation 89: 1023–1031, 1994

Jumppanen M, Kinnunen SM, Välimäki MJ, Talman V, Auno S, Bruun T, Boije af Gennäs G, Xhaard H, Aumüller IB, Ruskoaho H, Yli-Kauhaluoma J: Synthesis, Identification, and Structure–Activity Relationship Analysis of GATA4 and NKX2-5 Protein–Protein Interaction Modulators. J Med Chem 62: 8284–8310, 2019

Kajstura J, Cheng W, Reiss K, Clark WA, Sonnenblick EH, Krajewski S, Reed JC, Olivetti G, Anversa P: Apoptotic and necrotic myocyte cell deaths are independent contributing variables of infarct size in rats. Lab Invest 74: 86–107, 1996

Kang PM, Haunstetter A, Aoki H, Usheva A, Izumo S: Morphological and Molecular Characterization of Adult Cardiomyocyte Apoptosis During Hypoxia and Reoxygenation. Circ Res 87: 118–125, 2000

Kang C, Xu Q, Martin TD, Li MZ, Demaria M, Aron L, Lu T, Yankner BA, Campisi J, Elledge SJ: The DNA Damage Response Induces Inflammation and Senescence by Inhibiting Autophagy of GATA4. Science 349: aaa5612, 2015

Kannel WB, Gordon T, Offutt D. Left ventricular hypertrophy by electrocardiogram. Prevalence, incidence, and mortality in the Framingham study. Ann Intern Med 71: 89–105, 1969

Kaplan NM: Clinical hypertension. 7th edition. Pub. Williams & Wilkins, 1998

Kapranov P, Drenkow J, Cheng J, Long J, Helt G, Dike S, Gingeras TR: Examples of the complex architecture of the human transcriptome revealed by RACE and high-density tiling arrays. Genome Res 15: 987–997, 2005

Kapranov P, Cheng J, Dike S, Nix DA, Duttagupta R, Willingham AT, Stadler PF, Hertel J, Hackermüller J, Hofacker IL, Bell I, Cheung E, Drenkow J, Dumais E, Patel S, Helt G, Ganesh M, Ghosh S, Piccolboni A, Sementchenko V, Tammana H, Gingeras TR: RNA maps reveal new RNA classes and a possible function for pervasive transcription. Science 316: 1484–1488, 2007

Karhu ST, Välimäki MJ, Jumppanen M, Kinnunen SM, Pohjolainen L, Leigh RS, Auno S, Földes G, Boije af Gennäs G, Yli-Kauhaluoma J, Ruskoaho H, Talman V: Stem cells are the most sensitive screening tool to identify toxicity of GATA4-targeted novel small-molecule compounds. Arch Toxicol 92: 2897–2911, 2018

Katanasaka Y, Suzuki H, Sunagawa Y, Hasegawa K, Morimoto T: Regulation of Cardiac Transcription Factor GATA4 by Post-Translational Modification in Cardiomyocyte Hypertrophy and Heart Failure. Int Heart J 57: 672–675, 2016

Kelley C, Blumberg H, Zon LI, Evans T: GATA-4 is a novel transcription factor expressed in endocardium of the developing heart. Development 118: 817–827, 1993

Kent RL, Rozich JD, McCollam PL, McDermott DE, Thacker UF, Menick DR, McDermott PJ, Cooper G 4th: Rapid expression of the Na+-Ca2+ exchanger in response to cardiac pressure overload. Am J Physiol 265: H1024–1029, 1993

Khan AR, Farid TA, Pathan A, Tripathi A, Ghafghazi S, Wysoczynski M, Bolli R: Impact of Cell Therapy on Myocardial Perfusion and Cardiovascular Outcomes in Patients With Angina Refractory to Medical Therapy: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Circ Res 118: 984–993, 2016.

Kinnunen S, Välimäki M, Tölli M, Wohlfahrt G, Darwich R, Komati H, Nemer M, Ruskoaho H: Nuclear Receptor-Like Structure and Interaction of Congenital Heart Disease-Associated Factors GATA4 and NKX2-5. PLoS One 10: e0144145, 2015

Klattenhoff CA, Scheuermann JC, Surface LE, Bradley RK, Fields PA, Steinhauser ML, Ding H, Butty VL, Torrey L, Haas S, Abo R, Tabebordbar M, Lee RT, Burge CB, Boyer LA: Braveheart, a Long Noncoding RNA Required for Cardiovascular Lineage Commitment. Cell 152: 570–583, 2013

Ko JL and Engel JD: DNA-binding specificities of the GATA transcription factor family. Mol Cell Biol 13: 4011–4022, 1993

Kohonnut verenpaine (online). Käypä hoito -national treatment recommendation. A committee set by the Finnish Doctors Society Duodecim and the Finnish Hypertension

Association. Helsinki: Suomalainen Lääkäriseura Duodecim, 2014 (referred on 18.1.2020). Available online: <u>www.kaypahoito.fi</u>

Konfino T, Landa N, Ben-Mordechai T, Leor J: The Type of Injury Dictates the Mode of Repair in Neonatal and Adult Heart. J Am Heart Assoc: Cardiovascular and Cerebrovascular Disease 4: e001320, 2015

Koren MJ, Devereux RB, Casale PN: Relation of left ventricular mass and geometry to morbidity and mortality in uncomplicated essential hypertension. Ann Intern Med 114: 345–352, 1991

Krenz M and Robbins J: Impact of beta-myosin heavy chain expression on cardiac function during stress. J Am Coll Cardiol 44: 2390–2397, 2004

Kugel JF and Goodrich JA: Non-coding RNAs: Key regulators of mammalian transcription. Trends Biochem Sci 37: 144–151, 2012

Kühn B, del Monte F, Hajjar RJ, Chang YS, Lebeche D, Arab S, Keating MT: Periostin induces proliferation of differentiated cardiomyocytes and promotes cardiac repair. Nature Med 13: 962–969, 2007

Kumpusalo E, Lappi J, Miettinen H, Takala J: Prevalence of left ventricular hypertrophy in Finnish primary health care hypertensive patients. J Hum Hypertens 15: 255–258, 2001

Laflamme MA and Murry CE: Heart Regeneration. Nature 473: 326–335, 2011

Laverriere AC, MacNeill C, Mueller C, Poelmann RE, Burch JBE, Evans T: GATA-4/5/6, a subfamily of three transcription factors transcribed in developing heart and gut. J Biol Chem 269: 23177–23184, 1994

Lázár E, Sadek HA, Bergmann O: Cardiomyocyte renewal in the human heart: insights from the fall-out. Eur Heart J 38: 2333–2342, 2017

Lee JT: Epigenetic regulation by long noncoding RNAs. Science, 338, 1435–1439, 2012

Lee HR, Henderson SA, Reynolds R, Dunnmon P, Yuan D, Chien KR: α1-adrenergic stimulation of cardiac gene transcription in neonatal rat myocardial cells. Effects on myosin light chain-2 gene expression. J Biol Chem 263: 7352–7358, 1988

Levy D, Anderson KM, Savage DD, Kannel WB, Christiansen JC, Castelli WP: Echocardiographically detected left ventricular hypertrophy: prevalence and risk factors. The Framingham Heart Study. Ann Intern Med 108: 7–13, 1988

Levy D, Garrison RJ, Savage, DD, Kannel WB, Castelli WP: Prognostic implications of echocardiographically determined left ventricular mass in the Framingham Heart Study, N Engl J Med 322: 1561–1566, 1990

Li F, Wang X, Capasso JM, Gerdes AM: Rapid Transition of Cardiac Myocytes from Hyperplasia to Hypertrophy During Postnatal Development. J Mol Cell Cardiol 28: 1737–1746, 1996

Li D, Chen G, Yang J, Fan X, Gong Y, Xu G, Cui Q, Geng B: Transcriptome analysis reveals distinct patterns of long noncoding RNAs in heart and plasma of mice with heart failure. PLoS One 8: e77938, 2013

Li B, Hu Y, Li X, Jin G, Chen X, Chen G, Chen Y, Huang S, Liao W, Liao Y, Teng Z, Bin J: Sirt1 Antisense Long Noncoding RNA Promotes Cardiomyocyte Proliferation by Enhancing the Stability of Sirt1. J Am Heart Assoc 7: e009700, 2018

Liang Q, De Windt LJ, Witt SA, Kimball TR, Markham BE, Molkentin JD: The Transcription Factors GATA4 and GATA6 Regulate Cardiomyocyte Hypertrophy in Vitro and in Vivo. J Biol Chem 276: 30245–30253, 2001

Liu Y, Li G, Lu H, Li W, Li X, Liu H, Li X, Li T, Yu B: Expression profiling and ontology analysis of long noncoding RNAs in post-ischemic heart and their implied roles in ischemia/reperfusion injury. Gene 543: 15–21, 2014

Liu H, Hu Y, Yin J, Yan X, Chen W, Wang X, Han S, Yu Z, Li M: Effects of long noncoding RNA uc.245 on cardiomyocyte-like differentiation in P19 cells via FOG2. Gene 694: 83–92, 2019

Liebson PR, Grandits GA, Dianzumba S Prineas RJ, Grimm RH Jr, Neaton JD, Stamler J: Comparison of five antihypertensive monotherapies and placebo for change in left ventricular mass in patients receiving nutritional-hygienic therapy in the Treatment of Mild Hypertension Study (TOMHS). Circulation 91: 698–706, 1995

Lommi J: Sydämen krooninen vajaatoiminta. Lääkärin käsikirja 5.12.2018 (referred on 18.1.2020). Pub. Kustannus Oy Duodecim. Available online: <u>www.terveysportti.fi</u>

Long CS, Ordahl CP, Simpson PC: α1-adrenergic receptor stimulation of sarcomeric actin isogene transcription in hypertrophy of cultured rat heart muscle cells. J Clin Invest 83: 1078–1082, 1989

Lu JR, McKinsey TA, Xu H, Wang DZ, Richardson JA, Olson EN: FOG-2, a heart- and brain-enriched cofactor for GATA transcription factors. Mol Cell Biol 19: 4495–4502, 1999

Luo M and Anderson ME: Mechanisms of Altered Ca²⁺ Handling in Heart Failure. Circ Res 113: 690–708, 2013

Lyons I, Parsons LM, Hartley L, Li R, Andrews JE, Robb L, Harvey RP: Myogenic and Morphogenetic Defects in the Heart Tubes of Murine Embryos Lacking the Homeo Box Gene Nkx2-5. Genes Dev 9: 1654–11000, 1995

MacGregor GA, Markandu ND, Singer DR, Cappuccio FP, Shore AC, Sagnella GA: Moderate sodium restriction with angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor in essential hypertension: a double blind study. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 294: 531–534, 1987

MacMahon SW, Wilcken DE, Macdonald GJ: The effect of weight reduction on left ventricular mass. A randomized controlled trial in young, overweight hypertensive patients. N Engl J Med 314: 334–339, 1986

Magga J, Vuolteenaho O, Tokola H, Marttila M, Ruskoaho H: B-type natriuretic peptide: a myocyte-specific marker for characterizing load-induced alterations in cardiac gene expression. Ann Med 30: 39–45, 1998

Mancia G, Fagard R, Narkiewicz K, Redon J, Zanchetti A, Böhm M, Christiaens T, Cifkova R, De Backer G, Dominiczak A, Galderisi M, Grobbee DE, Jaarsma T, Kirchhof P, Kjeldsen SE, Laurent S, Manolis AJ, Nilsson PM, Ruilope LM, Schmieder RE, Sirnes PA, Sleight P, Viigimaa M, Waeber B, Zannad F, Redon J, Dominiczak A, Narkiewicz K, Nilsson PM, Burnier M, Viigimaa M, Ambrosioni E, Caufield M, Coca A, Olsen MH, Schmieder RE, Tsioufis C, van de Borne P, Zamorano JL, Achenbach S, Baumgartner H, Bax JJ, Bueno H, Dean V, Deaton C, Erol C, Fagard R, Ferrari R, Hasdai D, Hoes AW, Kirchhof P, Knuuti J, Kolh P, Lancellotti P, Linhart A, Nihoyannopoulos P, Piepoli MF, Ponikowski P, Sirnes PA, Tamargo JL, Tendera M, Torbicki A, Wijns W, Windecker S, Clement DL, Coca A, Gillebert TC, Tendera M, Rosei EA, Ambrosioni E, Anker SD, Bauersachs J, Hitij JB, Caulfield M, De Buyzere M, De Geest S, Derumeaux GA, Erdine S, Farsang C, Funck-Brentano C, Gerc V, Germano G, Gielen S, Haller H, Hoes AW, Jordan J, Kahan T, Komajda M, Lovic D, Mahrholdt H, Olsen MH, Ostergren J, Parati G, Perk J, Polonia J, Popescu BA, Reiner Z, Rydén L, Sirenko Y, Stanton A, Struijker-Boudier H, Tsioufis C, van de Borne P, Vlachopoulos C, Volpe M, Wood DA: 2013 ESH/ESC guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension: the Task Force for the Management of Arterial Hypertension of the European Society of Hypertension (ESH) and of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Eur Heart 34: 2159-2219, 2013

Marmot MG, Elliott P, Shipley MJ, Dyer AR, Ueshima H, Beevers DG, Stamler R, Kesteloot H, Rose G, Stamler J: Alcohol and blood pressure: the INTERSALT study. BMJ 308: 1263–1267, 1994

Martinez F, Monfort S, Rosello M, Oltra S, Blesa D, Quiroga R, Mayo S, Orellana C: Enrichment of ultraconserved elements among genomic imbalances causing mental delay and congenital anomalies. BMC Med Genet 3: 54, 2010

Matkovich SJ, Edwards JR, Grossenheider TC, de Guzman Strong C, Dorn GW 2nd: Epigenetic coordination of embryonic heart transcription by dynamically regulated long noncoding RNAs. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 111: 12264–12269, 2014

Mazzolai L, Nussberger J, Aubert JF, Brunner DB, Gabbiani G, Brunner HR, Pedrazzini T: Blood pressure-independent cardiac hypertrophy induced by locally activated reninangiotensin system. Hypertension 31: 1324–1330, 1998 Mazzolai L, Pedrazzini T, Nicoud F, Gabbiani G, Brunner HR, Nussberger J: Increased cardiac angiotensin II levels induce right and left ventricular hypertrophy in normotensive mice. Hypertension 35: 985–991, 2000

McPherson R, Pertsemlidis A, Kavaslar N, Stewart A, Roberts R, Cox DR, Hinds DA, Pennacchio LA, Tybjaerg-Hansen A, Folsom AR, Boerwinkle E, Hobbs HH, Cohen JC. A common allele on chromosome 9 associated with coronary heart disease. Science 316: 1488–1491, 2007

Mercer TR, Dinger ME, Mattick JS: Long non-coding RNAs: insights into functions. Nat Rev Gen 10: 155–159, 2009.

Mercer TR, Neph S, Dinger ME, Crawford J, Smith MA, Shearwood AM, Haugen E, Bracken CP, Rackham O, Stamatoyannopoulos JA, Filipovska A, Mattick JS: The human mitochondrial transcriptome. Cell 146: 645–658, 2011

Mercola M, Ruiz-Lozano P, Schneider MD: Cardiac muscle regeneration: lessons from development. Genes Dev 25, 299–309: 2011

Merika M and Orkin SH: DNA-binding specificity of GATA family transcription factors. Mol Cell Biol 13: 3999–4010, 1993

Messerli FH and Aepfelbacher FC: Hypertension and left-ventricular hypertrophy. Cardiol Clin 13: 549-557, 1995

Messerli FH: Clinical determinants and manifestations of left ventricular hypertrophy. In book: The Heart and hypertension, p. 219–230. Edit. Messerli FH, Yorke Medical Books, New York 1987

Miyata S, Minobe W, Bristow MR, Leinwand LA: Myosin Heavy chain isoform expression in the failing and nonfailing human heart. Circ Res 86: 386–390, 2000

Mohammadi MM, Kattih B, Grund A, Froese N, Korf-Klingebiel M, Gigina A, Schrameck U, Rudat C, Liang Q, Kispert A, Wollert KC, Bauersachs J, Heineke J: The transcription factor GATA4 promotes myocardial regeneration in neonatal mice. EMBO Mol Med 9: 265–279, 2017

Molkentin JD, Lin Q, Duncan SA, Olson EN: Requirement of the Transcription Factor GATA4 for Heart Tube Formation and Ventral Morphogenesis. Genes Dev 11: 1061–1072, 1997

Molkentin JD: The Zinc Finger-containing Transcription Factors GATA-4, -5, and -6. J Biol Chem 275: 38949–38952, 2000

Mollova M, Bersell K, Walsh S, Savla J, Das LT, Park S-Y, Silberstein LE, dos Remedios CG, Graham D, Colan S, Kühn B: Cardiomyocyte proliferation contributes to heart growth in young humans. P Natl Acad Sci USA 110: 1446–1451, 2013

Morrisey EE, Ip HS, Lu MM, Parmacek MS: GATA-6: a zinc finger transcription factor that is expressed in multiple cell lineages derived from lateral mesoderm. Dev Biol 177: 309–322, 1996

Morrisey EE, Ip HS, Tang Z, Lu MM, Parmacek MS: GATA-5: a transcriptional activator expressed in a novel temporally and spatially-restricted pattern during embryonic development. Dev Biol 183: 21–36, 1997

Mosterd A and Hoes AW: Clinical epidemiology of heart failure. Heart 93:1137–1146, 2007

Mozaffarian D, Benjamin EJ, Go AS, Arnett DK, Blaha MJ, Cushman M, Das SR, de Ferranti S, Després JP, Fullerton HJ, Howard VJ, Huffman MD, Isasi CR, Jiménez MC, Judd SE, Kissela BM, Lichtman JH, Lisabeth LD, Liu S, Mackey RH, Magid DJ, McGuire DK, Mohler ER 3rd, Moy CS, Muntner P, Mussolino ME, Nasir K, Neumar RW, Nichol G, Palaniappan L, Pandey DK, Reeves MJ, Rodriguez CJ, Rosamond W, Sorlie PD, Stein J, Towfighi A, Turan TN, Virani SS, Woo D, Yeh RW, Turner MB: Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics-2016 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. Circulation 133: e599–e599, 2016

Nadal-Ginard B, Kajstura J, Leri A, Anversa P: Myocyte death, growth, and regeneration in cardiac hypertrophy and failure. Circ Res 92: 139–150, 2003

Nag AC: Study of non-muscle cells of the adult mammalian heart: a fine structural analysis and distribution. Cytobios 28: 41–61, 1980

Nakamura K, Hirano K, Wu SM: iPS cell modeling of cardiometabolic diseases. J Cardiovasc Transl Res 6: 46–53, 2013

Nam YJ, Song K, Luo X, Daniel E, Lambeth K, West K, Hill JA, DiMaio JM, Baker LA, Bassel-Duby R, Olson EN: Reprogramming of human fibroblasts toward a cardiac fate. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 110: 5588–5593, 2013

Neter JE, Stam BE, Kok FJ, Grobbee DE, Geleijnse JM: Influence of weight reduction on blood pressure: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Hypertension 42: 878–884, 2003

Noh JH, Kim KM, McClusky W, Abdelmohsen K, Gorospe M: Cytoplasmic functions of lncRNAs. Wiley Interdiscip Rev RNA 9: e1471, 2018

O'Donoghue M and Braunwald E: Natriuretic peptides in heart failure: should therapy be guided by BNP levels? Nat Rev Cardiol 7: 13–20, 2010

Oka T, Maillet M, Watt AJ, Schwartz RJ, Aronow BJ, Duncan SA, Molkentin JD: Cardiac-Specific Deletion of Gata4 Reveals Its Requirement for Hypertrophy, Compensation, and Myocyte Viability. Circ Res 98: 837–845, 2006 Okin PM, Devereux RB, Jern S, Kjeldsen SE, Julius S, Dahlöf B: Baseline characteristics in relation to electrocardiographic left ventricular hypertrophy in hypertensive patients: the Losartan intervention for endpoint reduction (LIFE) in hypertension study. The Life Study Investigators. Hypertension 36: 766–73, 2000

Olson EN: Gene regulatory networks in the evolution and development of the heart. Science 313: 1922–1927, 2006

Ounzain S, Pezzuto I, Micheletti R, Burdet F, Sheta R, Nemir M, Gonzales C, Sarre A, Alexanian M, Blow MJ, May D, Johnson R, Dauvillier J, Pennacchio LA, Pedrazzini T: Functional importance of cardiac enhancer-associated noncoding RNAs in heart development and disease. J Mol Cell Cardiol 76: 55–70, 2014

Parijs J, Joossens JV, Van der Linden L, Verstreken G, Amery AK: Moderate sodium restriction and diuretics in the treatment of hypertension. Am Heart J 85: 22–34, 1973

Parikka H: Kammiohypertrofioiden arviointi EKG:n perusteella (online). Lääkärin käsikirja, 4.4.2016 (referred on 18.1.2020). Pub. Kustannus Oy Duodecim. Available on the Internet: <u>www.terveysportti.fi</u>

Park S-J, Kim RY, Park B-W, Lee S, Choi SW, Park J-H, Choi JJ, Kim S-W, Jang J, Cho D-W, Chung H-M, Moon S-H, Ban K, Park H-J: Dual stem cell therapy synergistically improves cardiac function and vascular regeneration following myocardial infarction. Nat Commun 10: 1–12, 2019

Parmacek MS and Epstein JA: Cardiomyocyte Renewal. N Engl J Med 361: 86-88, 2009

Passier R, van Laake LW, Mummery CL: Stem-cell-based therapy and lessons from the heart. Nature 453: 322–329, 2008

Pasumarthi KB and Field LJ: Cardiomyocyte cell cycle regulation. Circ Res 90: 1044–1054, 2002

Patient RK and McGhee JD: The GATA family (vertebrates and invertebrates). Curr Opin Genet Dev 4: 416–422, 2002

Paturi M, Tapanainen H, Reinivuo H, Pietinen P, Valsta M: Finravinto 2007 -tutkimus. The National FINDIET 2007 Survey. Kansanterveyslaitoksen julkaisuja B23/2008.

Pearson AC, Pasierski T, Labovitz AJ: Left ventricular hypertrophy: diagnosis, prognosis, and management. Am Heart J 121: 148–157, 1991

Pfeffer JM, Pfeffer MA, Mirsky I, Braunwald E: Regression of left ventricular hypertrophy and prevention of left ventricular dysfunction by captopril in the spontaneously hypertensive rat. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 79: 3310–3314, 1982

Piccoli M-T, Gupta SK, Viereck J, Foinquinos A, Samolovac S, Luise Kramer FL, Garg A, Remke J, Zimmer K, Batkai S, Thum T: Inhibition of the Cardiac Fibroblast–Enriched

IncRNA Meg3 Prevents Cardiac Fibrosis and Diastolic Dysfunction. Circ Res 121: 575–583, 2017

Pikkarainen S, Tokola H, Majalahti-Palviainen T, Kerkelä R, Hautala N, Bhalla SS, Charron F, Nemer M, Vuolteenaho O, Ruskoaho H: GATA-4 Is a Nuclear Mediator of Mechanical Stretch-activated Hypertrophic Program. J Biol Chem 278: 23807–23816, 2003

Pikkarainen S, Tokola H, Kerkelä R, Ruskoaho H: GATA transcription factors in the developing and adult heart. Cardiovas Res 63: 196–207, 2004

Pinto AR, Ilinykh A, Ivey MJ, Kuwabara JT, D'Antoni ML, Debuque R, Chandran A, Wang L, Arora K, Rosenthal NA, Tallquist MD: Revisiting Cardiac Cellular Composition. Circ Res 118: 400–409, 2016

Ponnusamy M, Liu F, Zhang Y-H, Li R-B, Zhai M, Liu F, Zhou L-Y, Liu C-Y, Yan K-W, Dong Y-H, Wang M, Qian L-L, Shan C, Xu S, Wang Q, Zhang Y-H, Li P-F, Zhang J, Wang K: Long Noncoding RNA CPR (Cardiomyocyte Proliferation Regulator) Regulates Cardiomyocyte Proliferation and Cardiac Repair. Circulation 139: 2668–2684, 2019

Porrello ER, Mahmoud AI, Simpson E, Hill JA, Richardson JA, Olson EN, Sadek HA: Transient Regenerative Potential of the Neonatal Mouse Heart. Science 331: 1078–1080, 2011

Poss KD, Wilson LG, Keating MT: Heart Regeneration in Zebrafish. Science 298: 2188-2190, 2002

Pratt RE and Dzau VJ: Molecular and cellular biology of angiotensin-mediated growth of the cardiovascular system. In book: Cellular and Molecular Biology of the Renin-Angiotensin System, p. 471–483, 1st edition. Pub. CRC Press, Florida, United States 2018

Ptaszek LM, Mansour M, Ruskin JN, Chien KR: Towards regenerative therapy for cardiac disease. Lancet 379, 933–942, 2012

Pu WT, Ishiwata T, Juraszek AL, Ma Q, Izumo S: GATA4 is a dosage-sensitive regulator of cardiac morphogenesis. Dev Biol 275: 235–244, 2004

Puska P, Vartiainen E, Laatikainen T, Jousilahti P, Paavola M: The North Karelia Project: From North Karelia to national action. Terveyden ja hyvinvoinnin laitos. Helsinki University Printing House, Helsinki 2009. 309 s. Available online: www.thl.fi/documents/189940/261635/Teema%202009%201.pdf

Qian L, Huang Y, Spencer CI, Foley A, Vedantham V, Liu L, Conway SJ, Fu JD, Srivastava D: In vivo reprogramming of murine cardiac fibroblasts into induced cardiomyocytes. Nature 485: 593–598, 2012

Ramos AD, Diaz A, Nellore A, Delgado RN, Park K-Y, Gonzales-Roybal G, Oldham MC, Song JS, Lim DA: Integration of Genome-wide Approaches Identifies lncRNAs of Adult Neural Stem Cells and Their Progeny In Vivo. Cell Stem Cell 12: 616–628, 2013

Rashid F, Shah A, Shan G: Long non-coding RNAs in the cytoplasm. GPB 14: 73–80, 2016

Rojas A, Kong SW, Agarwal P, Gilliss B, Pu WT, Black BL: GATA4 Is a Direct Transcriptional Activator of Cyclin D2 and Cdk4 and Is Required for Cardiomyocyte Proliferation in Anterior Heart Field-Derived Myocardium. Molecular and Cellular Biology 28: 5420–5431, 2008.

Rosenkranz AC, Hood SG, Woods RL, Dusting GJ, Ritchie RH: B-Type Natriuretic Peptide Prevents Acute Hypertrophic Responses in the Diabetic Rat Heart: Importance of cyclic GMP. Diabetes 52: 2389–2395, 2003a

Rosenkranz AC, Woods RL, Dusting GJ, Ritchie RH: Antihypertrophic actions of the natriuretic peptides in adult rat cardiomyocytes: importance of cyclic GMP. Cardiovasc Res 57: 515–522, 2003b

Ruilope LM and Schmieder RE: Left ventricular hypertrophy and clinical outcomes in hypertensive patients. Am J Hypertens 21: 500–508, 2008

Ryan DP and Matthews JM: Protein–protein interactions in human disease. Curr Opin Struc Biol 15: 441–446, 2005

Sacks FM, Svetkey LP, Vollmer WM, Appel LJ, Bray GA, Harsha D, Obarzanek E, Conlin PR, Miller ER 3rd, Simons-Morton DG, Karanja N, Lin PH; DASH-Sodium Collaborative Research Group: Effects on blood pressure of reduced dietary sodium and the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) diet. DASH-Sodium Collaborative Research Group. N Engl J Med 344: 3–10, 2001

Sadoshima J, Xu Y, Slayter HS, Izumo S: Autocrine release of angiotensin II mediates stretch-induced hypertrophy of cardiac myocytes in vitro. Cell 75: 977–984, 1993

Samani NJ, Erdmann J, Hall AS, Hengstenberg C, Mangino M, Mayer B, Dixon RJ, Meitinger T, Braund P, Wichmann HE, Barrett JH, König IR, Stevens SE, Szymczak S, Tregouet DA, Iles MM, Pahlke F, Pollard H, Lieb W, Cambien F, Fischer M, Ouwehand W, Blankenberg S, Balmforth AJ, Baessler A, Ball SG, Strom TM, Braenne I, Gieger C, Deloukas P, Tobin MD, Ziegler A, Thompson JR, Schunkert H; WTCCC and the Cardiogenics Consortium: Genomewide association analysis of coronary artery disease. N Engl J Med 357: 443–453, 2007

Schwartz K, de la Bastie D, Bouveret P, Oliviéro P, Alonso S, Buckingham M: α -skeletal muscle actin mRNA's accumulate in hypertrophied adult rat hearts. Circ Res 59: 551–555, 1986

Schmieder RE, Schlaich MP, Klingbeil AU ym. Update on reversal of left ventricular hypertrophy in essential hypertension (a meta-analysis of all randomized double-blind studies until December 1996). Nephrol Dial Transplant 13: 564–569, 1998

Scott DE, Bayly AR, Abell C, Skidmore J: Small Molecules, Big Targets: Drug Discovery Faces the Protein–Protein Interaction Challenge. Nat Rev Drug Discovery 15: 533–550, 2016

Sequeira V, Nijenkamp LLAM, Regan JA, Van Der Velden J: The physiological role of cardiac cytoskeleton and its alterations in heart failure. Biochimt Biophys Acta – Biomembranes 1838: 700–722, 2014

Singer DR, Markandu ND, Cappuccio FP, Miller MA, Sagnella GA, MacGregor GA: Reduction of salt intake during converting enzyme inhibitor treatment compared with addition of a thiazide. Hypertension 25: 1042–1044, 1995

Song K, Nam YJ, Luo X, Qi X, Tan W, Huang GN, Acharya A, Smith CL, Tallquist MD, Neilson EG, Hill JA, Bassel-Duby R, Olson EN: Heart repair by reprogramming nonmyocytes with cardiac transcription factors. Nature 485: 599–604, 2012

Soonpaa MH, Kim KK, Pajak L, Franklin M, Field LJ: Cardiomyocyte DNA synthesis and binucleation during murine development. Am J Physiol 271: 2183–2189, 1996

Souders CA, Bowers SLK, Baudino TA: Cardiac fibroblast: the renaissance cell. Circ Res 105: 1164–1176, 2009

Srivastava D: Making or breaking the heart: from lineage determination to morphogenesis. Cell 126: 1037–1048, 2006

Strazzullo P, D'Elia L, Kandala NB, Cappuccio FP: Salt intake, stroke, and cardiovascular disease: meta-analysis of prospective studies. BMJ 339: b4567, 2009

Struhl K: Transcriptional noise and the fidelity of initiation by RNA polymerase II. Nature Struct Mol Biol 14: 103–105, 2007

Svensson EC, Tufts RL, Polk CE, Leiden JM: Molecular cloning of FOG-2: a modulator of transcription factor GATA-4 in cardiomyocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 96: 956–961, 1999

Sydämen vajaatoiminta (online). Käypä hoito – national treatment recommendation. A committee set by the Finnish Doctors Society Duodecim and the Finnish Hypertension Cardiological Society. Helsinki: Suomalainen Lääkäriseura Duodecim, 2017 (referred on 18.1.2020). Available online: <u>www.kaypahoito.fi</u>

Takahashi K and Yamanaka S: Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 126: 663–676, 2006

Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K, Yamanaka S: Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 131: 861–872, 2007

Tang Y, Nyengaard JR, Andersen JB, Baandrup U, Gundersen HJ: The application of stereological methods for estimating structural parameters in the human heart. Anat Rec (Hoboken)292: 1630–1647, 2009

Tevosian SG, Deconinck AE, Cantor AB, Rieff HI, Fujiwara Y, Corfas G, Orkin SH: FOG-2: A novel GATA-family cofactor related to multitype zinc-finger proteins Friend of GATA-1 and U-shaped. P Natl ACcad Sci USA 96: 950–955, 1999

Tevosian SG, Deconinck AE, Tanaka M, Schinke M, Litovsky SH, Izumo S, Fujiwara Y, Orkin SH: FOG-2, a cofactor for GATA transcription factors, is essential for heart morphogenesis and development of coronary vessels from epicardium. Cell 23:729–739, 2000

The Human GENCODE Gene Set (online). GENCODE database. The National Human Genome Research Institute (NHGRI). 9/209 (referred 11/5/2019). Available online: www.gencodegenes.org/human

Tuomilehto J, Jousilahti P, Rastenyte D, Moltchanov V, Tanskanen A, Pietinen P, Nissinen A: Urinary sodium excretion and cardiovascular mortality in Finland: a prospective study. Lancet 357: 848–851, 2001

van Berlo JH, Aronow BJ, Molkentin JD: Parsing the roles of the transcription factors GATA-4 and GATA-6 in the adult cardiac hypertrophic response. PLoS One 8: e84591, 2013a

van Berlo, Maillet M, Molkentin JD: Signaling effectors underlying pathologic growth and remodeling of the heart. J Clin Invest 123: 37–45, 2013b

Viereck J, Kumarswamy R, Foinquinos A, Xiao K, Avramopoulos P, Kunz M, Dittrich M, Maetzig T, Zimmer K, Remke J, Just A, Fendrich J, Scherf K, Bolesani E, Schambach A, Weidemann F, Zweigerdt R, de Windt LJ, Engelhardt S, Dandekar T, Batkai S, Thum T: Long noncoding RNA Chast promotes cardiac remodeling. Sci Transl Med 8: 326ra22–326ra22, 2016

Välimäki MJ, Tölli MA, Kinnunen SM, Aro J, Serpi R, Pohjolainen L Talman V, Poso A, Ruskoaho HJ: Discovery of Small Molecules Targeting the Synergy of Cardiac Transcription Factors GATA4 and NKX2-5. J Med Chem 60: 7781–7798, 2017

Wang K, Liu F, Zhou L-Y, Long B, Yuan S-M, Wang Y, Liu C-Y, Sun T, Zhang X-J, Li P-F: The Long Noncoding RNA CHRF Regulates Cardiac Hypertrophy by Targeting miR-489. Circ Res 114: 1377–1388, 2014

Wang Z, Zhang XJ, Ji YX, Zhang P, Deng KQ, Gong J: The long noncoding RNA Chaer defines an epigenetic checkpoint in cardiac hypertrophy. Nat Med 22: 1131–1139, 2016

Wapinski O and Chang HY: Long noncoding RNAs and human disease. Trends Cell Biol 21: 354–361, 2011

Weeks KL and McMullen JR: The athlete's heart vs. the failing heart: Can signaling explain the two distinct outcomes? Physiology 26: 97–105, 2011

Yamori Y, Nara Y, Mizushima S, Sawamura M, Horie R: Nutritional factors for stroke and major cardiovascular diseases: international epidemiological comparison of dietary prevention. Health Rep 6: 22–27, 1994

Yoon JH, Abdelmohsen K, Gorospe M: Posttranscriptional gene regulation by long noncoding RNA. J Mol Biol 425: 3723–3730, 2013

Yoshida Y and Yamanaka S: iPS cells: a source of cardiac regeneration. J Mol Cell Cardiol 50: 327–332, 2011

Zaruba MM and Field LJ: The mouse as a model system to study cardiac regeneration. Drug Discov Today Dis Models 5: 165–171, 2011

Zeisberg EM, Ma Q, Juraszek AL, Moses K, Schwartz RJ, Izumo S, Pu WT: Morphogenesis of the right ventricle requires myocardial expression of Gata4. J Clin Inv 115: 1522–1531, 2005

Zhao R, Watt AJ, Battle MA, Li J, Bondow BJ, Duncan SA: Loss of both GATA4 and GATA6 blocks cardiac myocyte differentiation and results in acardia in mice. Dev Biol 317: 614–619, 2008

Zhou B, Ma Q, Kong SW, Hu Y, Campbell PH, McGowan FX, Ackerman KG, Wu B, Zhou B, Tevosian SG, Pu WT: Fog2 is critical for cardiac function and maintenance of coronary vasculature in the adult mouse heart. J Clin Invest 119: 1462–1476